
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Tuesday, 19 January 2021 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Via Microsoft Teams 

Contact: Gemma Duckworth (0116 3052583) 

Email: gemma.duckworth@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC (Chairman) 

 
Dr. P. Bremner CC 

Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 
Mr. J. Kaufman CC 

Mrs. C. Lewis 
Mr. P. C. Osborne CC 

 

Mr T. Parton CC 
Mr. S. D. Sheahan CC 
Mr. G. Welsh CC 
Mrs. M. Wright CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   
 

1.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 
2020.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 12) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

6.  Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance   

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

  with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 - 
2024/25.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
and Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 13 - 40) 

9.  
  

Update on the Defining Children and Family 
Services for the Future Programme.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 41 - 50) 

10.  
  

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
(SEND) Update.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 51 - 62) 

11.  
  

Covid-19 Recovery Update.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 63 - 70) 

12.  
  

Annual Report of the Adoption Service 2019-
20.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 71 - 104) 

13.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 9 
March 2021 at 2.00pm. 
 
 

 

14.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  
 
The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point 
for developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 
at County Hall, Glenfield on Wednesday, 18 November 2020.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. I. E. G. Bentley CC 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 
Mr. J. Kaufman CC 
Mr T. Parton CC 
 

Mr. S. D. Sheahan CC 
Mr. G. Welsh CC 
Mrs. M. Wright CC 
 

In Attendance. 
 
Mrs. D. Taylor CC – Lead Member for Children and Families 
Mrs. B. Seaton CC – Cabinet Support Member. 
 

19. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 1 September 2020 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed.  
 

20. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

21. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

22. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

23. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No declarations were made. 
 

24. Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

25. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 36.  
 

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

 

The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

26. Defining Children and Family Services for the Future.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an overview of the outcome of a diagnostic assessment of the Department and 
outlined the plans to take forward work to develop the department to improve outcomes 
for children.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Children and Family Services Department faced significant challenges due to 
increased growth and demand on its services and the County Council was also facing 
additional financial pressures as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic.  This had increased 
the challenge to the Children and Family Services Department of ensuring continued 
delivery of effective outcomes for children, young people and families in a financially 
sustainable way.  It was proposed that the diagnostic assessment would help to inform 
the next steps in the ongoing development of the Department. 
 
The diagnostic assessment had identified several areas for consideration; these were 
subject to further validation and had been considered through a series of engagement 
with staff and a gateway review.  The opportunities assessed had been broadly 
categorised into four themes – Children’s Pathways, Timeliness of Interventions, Settings 
and Children with Disabilities.  The opportunities identified were a combination of 
potential service user benefits, improved productivity and processes and a savings 
contribution which would be reflected in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).  It 
was proposed that the cost of the programme would be commensurate and in line with 
the expected return on the investment. 
 
Further work would be undertaken over the next five – six months to develop the themes 
and opportunities in partnership with staff across the Department, officers from the 
Transformation Unit and colleagues from Newton Europe. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were raised: 
 

i) It was apparent that Newton Europe had effected significant reductions within 
Children and Family Services in other authorities and a query was raised as to 
whether this would be seen by Leicestershire County Council.  In response, it 
was stated that the average figures reported by Newton Europe related to 
previous work undertaken in other local authorities.  Newton Europe had 
proven in-depth experience of working with public service organisations and it 
was the intention that Leicestershire would work with them to ensure the best 
possible outcomes for the department. 

 
ii) A report was being presented to the Cabinet on 20 November 2020 to seek 

approval to move to the next stage of work, based on the outcome of the 
diagnostic assessment.  This was the design phase and would outline a 
comprehensive plan for delivery.  It was the intention to present a further report 
to this Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting in January which would 
give much more detail of the findings of the diagnostic assessment and the 
anticipated savings that would be achieved.  In response to a query, it was 
reported that the work was not motivated purely by the need to make savings.  
The financial challenge was a key focus but the department also wanted to 
ensure that services could continue to deliver positive outcomes for children in 

6



 
 

 

 

the most cost effective way.  Assurance was given that the focus of the work 
was on improving outcomes for children and families and service 
improvements. 

 
iii) The Lead Member for Children and Family Services reiterated the pressures being 

faced by the department and explained that this work would provide an 
opportunity for a total refresh of the service whilst ensuring the best outcomes 
for children and families were achieved. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the report be noted; 
 

b) That a further report be presented to the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 19 January 2021; 

 
c) That the Cabinet be advised of the comments made by the Committee. 

 
27. Progress Report: Ofsted Recommendations as Part of the Ofsted Continuous 

Improvement Action Plan 2017-2020 - The Road to Excellence.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an update of progress made against the Ofsted Continuous Improvement Action 
Plan (OCIAP) in responding to the Single Inspection of Children’s Social Care in 
November 2016 and the Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services in September 
2019.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Following the inspection in September 2019, the Continuous Improvement Plan (CIP) 
had been updated to reflect the recommendations made by Ofsted.  Previous areas that 
were continuing to be monitored through the CIP at the time of the most recent inspection 
but had made significant progress would now be monitored via Delivery Plans.  The 
department had continued to embed progress against the 15 green recommendations 
and drive change against the two remaining amber actions; these had now been 
embedded in the six recommendations from the 2019 Ofsted inspection.  Work would 
continue in the revised Road to Excellence Plan 2021-2023 with the ambition to have all 
recommendations embedded in practice by the time of the next full inspection in 2022. 
 
It was reported that progress was continuing against all six recommendations; in some 
areas, progress had been impacted by Covid-19 and although work had continued, the 
timeliness of some actions had been slower than planned.  Details were also provided of 
the key areas of work being undertaken in the amber areas and the challenges to 
progress. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i) Good progress had been made with recruitment and retention, although it 
remained a continuing challenge and of the current 52 vacancies, 40 had been 
recruited to with the remaining 12 out for recruitment.  Despite the Covid-19 
pandemic, there had been continued improvements in recruitment and 
retention.  It was noted that a large number of recruits were newly qualified 
social workers who had to have a lower caseload and more support during 
their first year in practice.  A proportion of this additional support was provided 
by agency staff, of which there were 46 currently in the department.  The 

7



 
 

 

 

department provided a range of strong support and initiatives to encourage 
greater recruitment and positive feedback had been received. 

 
ii) In response to a query around the First Response service, it was stated that 

progress had been made in terms of the Children and Family Wellbeing 
Service triage and these were now being worked in live time and were using 
the same three day timescale to monitor performance as First Response 
Children’s duty.  Work had been completed to consider an integrated approach 
to the screening process across the Children and Family Wellbeing Service 
and First Response and a proposal had been agreed to mirror the First 
Response screening process and provide closer oversight of Children and 
Family Wellbeing Service screening.  The impact for children would be early 
and coordinated responses to align service provision and timely decision 
making so that children had the right outcomes at the right time.  It was 
reported that there had been a reduction in waiting times and it was the 
intention to retest the model in place as referrals were beginning to increase 
once more. 

 
iii) Members were informed that the Inspection Framework differed in 2019 to that in 

2016.  However, Ofsted would always make recommendations as part of the 
continuous learning process.  Two recommendations from 2016 had been 
incorporated into the 2019 recommendations and these related to consistency 
of practice across the whole service and consistency in management oversight. 

 
iv) Updates on improvements across the service took place every three months.  A 

specific audit had been undertaken to consider the quality of the updates and 
the findings from this would be presented to a future meeting. 

 
v) A review of the Children’s Decision Making Panel had been undertaken to 

redesign the process and improve consistency.  The revisions were due to be 
presented to SMT on 30 November. 

 
vi) A member raised the issue of staff burn out and how this could be prevented.  The 

welfare of staff was monitored closely and regular staff supervision took place.  
The Recruitment and Retention Strategy now included work around the 
provision of support for staff.  During the lockdown period, it was ensured that 
the department continued to celebrate the success of its staff. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

28. Leicestershire Fostering Agency Statutory Report.  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Director of Children and Family Services 
which presented the activity of the Leicestershire Fostering Agency during the period 
March 2019 – March 2020.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with 
these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i) It was reported that in 2019/20, the service had received and processed 499 
fostering enquiries and undertaken 90 initial visits with 54 progressing to Stage 

8



 
 

 

 

1 of assessment.  There was some concern that those progressing was a small 
proportion of the initial enquiries and it was queried whether the advertising 
being used was appropriate.  The Director stated that the service was 
continually looking to improve but it did have national minimum standards to 
meet to ensure that the foster carer was appropriate.  However, consideration 
would be given as to whether these standards were being interpreted too 
narrowly by the service, although it was necessary to ensure that the foster 
carer was the right fit for a child.  It was possible from the enquiries that 
someone was looking to foster in the future and was seeking information in 
advance or that the person discovered that adoption was their preferred route.  
There had also been a number of families who had dropped out of the process 
at the second stage.  A further stage in the assessment process had now been 
introduced whereby a manager visited prospective foster carers to assess 
whether they were appropriate.  The process would be considered in the 
Defining Children and Family Services for the Future programme and it was 
hoped that areas for improvement would be identified. 

 
ii) During the period, eight Private Fostering approvals had been granted, but 

concern was raised that there could be a greater number.  Nationally, there 
was concern that families had made private arrangements for children and 
these were unreported.  The criteria for it not to be a Private Fostering 
arrangement was quite tight and it was acknowledged that many families were 
not aware that this arrangement existed.  The department had previously 
undertaken lots of advertising around what Private Fostering arrangements 
were.  In relation to the eight approvals, these had been referred to the service 
and would each have individual circumstances.  Upon referral, an assessment 
was undertaken to ensure that this was the most appropriate type of 
placement; consideration would also be given as to whether the child was a 
child in need. 

 
iii) A mentoring scheme had been developed whereby new foster carers received 

mentoring and support from existing foster carers for a six month period.  
During supervision and review, consideration was then given to the possibility 
of new foster carers becoming mentors.  More were now being encouraged to 
take on this role. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

29. Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officer.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
presented the Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) with regard to 
children in care and those subject to child protection planning.  The report evaluated the 
extend to which Leicestershire County Council had fulfilled its responsibilities to these 
children for the period 1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020.  A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i) In relation to Child Protection Plans lasting more than 18 months, it was queried 
whether it was possible to no longer have these in place.  In response, it was 

9



 
 

 

 

stated that the length of a Child Protection Plan was very much dependent on 
individual cases.  If it was felt that a child still required a Plan after 18 months, 
this would continue.  The timescale of a Plan was somewhat immaterial; what 
was key was that there was an improving picture for the child. 

 
ii) It was reported that QA alerts would be moved into the Mosaic system; this would 

formalise within case workflow and would create a tableau performance report 
so that case level detail could be used to measure impact and underpin 
consistent challenge.  The intention was that the information would be sent to 
Service Managers and that this would be a more effective process. 

 
iii) Out of 877 Child Protection Conferences, 116 had had to go out of date or be 

stood down on the day and rearranged; this was raised as an area of concern 
by a member.  It was stressed that not holding a Conference was avoided 
wherever possible but there had been incidents where it had been necessary 
to cancel due to unforeseen circumstances.  When this occurred, learning was 
considered and avoidable issues were taken up by the Service.  There was 
now an improving picture and there had been an increase in the number of 
IROs and Conference Clerks.  A further two IROs were due to commence with 
the Service later in the month. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

30. Quarter 2 2020/21 Performance Report.  
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Chief Executive and Director of Children 
and Family Services which provided an update of the Children and Family Service 
Department’s performance for the period July to September 2020 (Quarter 2).  A copy of 
the report marked ‘Agenda Item 12’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
A member raised the issue that there were a number of parents who were unwilling to 
send their children back to school due to there being vulnerable people in their 
household.  In response to a query, the authority could try to capture the number of 
children that this affected, although it was stressed that all cases were being dealt with on 
an individual basis. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

31. Dates of Future Meetings.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 19 January 2021 at 
2.00 pm. 
 
Future meetings of the Committee would be held on the following dates: 
 
9 March 2021 
1 June 2021 

10



 
 

 

 

7 September 2021 
2 November 2021. 
 
 

9.30am – 12.12pm CHAIRMAN 
18 November 2020 

 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

  
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 19 JANUARY 2021 
 

JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES AND THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2021/22–2024/25 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to: 

 
a) Provide information on the proposed 2021/22 to 2024/25 Medium Term Financial 

Strategy (MTFS) as it relates to the Children and Family Services (CFS) 
Department; 
 

b) Request members of the Committee to consider any issues as part of the 
consultation process and make any recommendations to the Scrutiny Commission 
and the Cabinet accordingly.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The MTFS is the financial plan that is updated annually to set out the resource intentions 

of each department and the Council overall. The current MTFS was approved by the 
County Council on 19th

 February 2020. The draft MTFS for 2021/22–2024/25 was 
considered by the Cabinet on 15th December 2020. 

 
3. The Children and Family Services Department is subject to a number of legislative duties 

to ensure the wellbeing and safeguarding of all children as comprised within the following: 

• The Children and Families Act 2014  

• The Care Act 2014  

• The Children Act  

• ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018’ guidance.  
 

4. Other relevant policies include: 

• Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-2022; 

• Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020-2023; 

• Voice and Influence Strategy 2020-2023; 

• Children and Family Services – Quality Assurance and Improvement 

• Framework (QAIF). 
 

 
 
 
 

13 Agenda Item 8



 

2 
 

Background 
 
5. The MTFS is set out in the report to the Cabinet on 15th December 2020, a copy of 

which has been circulated to all members of the County Council.  This report highlights 
the implications for the Children and Family Services Department. 
 

6. Reports such as this one are being presented to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. The views of this Committee will be reported to the Scrutiny Commission 
on 25th January 2021. A public consultation is running from 16th December 2020 to 17th 
January 2021. The Cabinet will consider the results of the scrutiny process and 
consultation on 5th February 2021 before recommending a MTFS, including a budget 
and capital programme for 2021/22, to the County Council on  17th February 2021. 

 
 
Service Transformation 
 
7. The Children and Family Services department is embarking on a significant programme 

of transformation across all its core services to deliver substantial cost efficiency savings 
and enable a sustainable, cost effective operating model whilst improving outcomes for 
children and young people in Leicestershire. 

 
8. The proposed transformation comprises of four main extensive programmes: 
 

• High Needs Development Programme 
A comprehensive development plan for Special Educational Needs and Disability 
(SEND) Services across Leicestershire, including the development of new high quality 
provision for children and young people with SEN and a review of systems and process 
to deliver improved services for children with SEN. 
 

• Defining Children and Family Services for the Future (DCFSF)  
A holistic programme working intensively with consultants Newton Europe over the 
next 12-18 months to develop and future-proof Children and Family Services so that 
the right interventions are delivered in the right way, at the right time, to ensure that 
children, young people and families achieve the best possible outcomes while also 
ensuring that the service is financially sustainable going forwards. This will be achieved 
through focus on optimising practice, systems, culture, and operational delivery across 
the department.  
 

• The Children’s Innovation Partnership (CIP)  
In partnership with Barnardo’s, alternative service delivery models are being designed 
culminating so far with an Assessment and Resource Team (ART), hub and 
assessment bed model and a residential build and conversion plan to improve the 
sufficiency and quality of residential provision within an agreed capital investment of up 
to £2.5m to create up to 12 placements. 
 

• Departmental Efficiencies  
A programme of work is to identify and deliver efficiencies in the services and back 
office support functions that aren’t in the scope of the other programmes, building on 
the in-year cost controls that were implemented in 2020 and utilising cost reduction 
model tools and methodologies.  

 

14



 

3 
 

Proposed Revenue Budget 
 
9. The table below summarises the proposed 2021/22 revenue budget and provisional 

budgets for the next four years.  The proposed 2021/22 revenue budget is shown in 
detail in Appendix A.   
 

 2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

2023/24 
£000 

2024/25 
£000 

Original prior year budget 80,914 89,086 89,611 90,216 

Budget Transfers and Adjustments 1,882 0 0 0 

Sub total  82,796 89,086 89,611 90,216 

Add proposed growth (Appendix B) 10,040 4,025 4,705 4,285 

Less proposed savings (Appendix B) -3,750 -3,500 -4,100 -4,650 

Proposed/Provisional net budget  89,086 89,611 90,216 89,851 

 
10. Detailed service budgets have been compiled on the basis of no pay or price inflation, a 

central contingency will be held which will be allocated to services as necessary. 
 

11. The central contingency also includes provision for an annual 1% increase in the 
employers’ contribution to the Local Government Pension in line with the requirements 
of the actuarial assessment. 

 
12. The total gross proposed budget for 2021/22 is £338m with contributions from specific 

grants, health transfers and service user and partner contributions of £249m projected. 
The proposed net budget for 2021/22 totals £89.1m and is distributed as follows: 

 
 

Net Budget 2021/2022 £000 

Directorate 1,194 

Safeguarding, Improvement and Quality 
Assurance 2,338 

Children in Care 48,744 

Field Social Work 15,045 

Practice Excellence 342 

Children and Families Wellbeing Service 8,278 

Education Sufficiency 444 

Education Quality and Inclusion 1,601 

SEND and Children with Disabilities 6,646 

Business Support and Commissioning 4,455 

Department Total 89,087 

 
Other Changes and Transfers 
 
13. Net budget increases totalling £1.88m were made during the 2020/21 financial year and 

are now adjusted for in the updated original budget.  This increase comprises of the staff 
pay award £1.6m and fostering placement inflationary increases of £0.28m. 

 

15



 

4 
 

14. Growth and savings have been categorised in the appendices under the following 
classification: 
 
*   item unchanged from previous MTFS; 
**   item included in the previous MTFS, but amendments have been made; 
No stars new item. 
 
This star rating is included in the descriptions set out for growth and savings below. 

 
15.  Savings have also been classified as Transformation or Departmental and highlighted as 

“Eff” or “SR” dependent on whether the saving is seen as an efficiency or a service 
reduction or a mixture of both. “Inc” denotes those savings that are funding related or to 
generate more income. 
 

Growth 
 
16. Growth over the next four years in the Children and Family Services budget totals 

£23.1m, including £10m in 2021/22. The majority of this growth requirement relates to 
continued increases in demands (and the complexity of those needs) for children’s 
social care services culminating in increased placement costs and social workers.   

 
17. The budget increases are outlined below with details for each growth item and 

summarised in Appendix B : 
 

** G1 - Social Care Placements £6.3m 2021/22 rising to £17.2m in 2024/25 
There has been a trend of demographic growth for Children’s Social Care locally and 

nationally and £3m growth was originally provided for next year (in the previous 2020/21 
MTFS) rising to £9m by 2023/4 but as seen in the current year budget monitoring, 
placement costs are being incurred beyond this. The Children’s Social Care placement 
budget in 2020/21 is projecting a £2.9m (9%) overspend resulting in growth required 
both to address this current year shortfall and to support the forecast growth for future 
years. 

 
The primary driver for the increased costs this year are an increase in the average unit 
cost which has changed from £3.5k to £4k per placement per week. This has been 
influenced by a number of children requiring residential placements to support very 
complex needs, subsequently leading to very high cost placements. The 16+ 
placements are experiencing similar trends with a 40% increase in the average unit cost 
which has moved from £1k per week to £1.4k. 
 
Changes to case law and court directives in recent years have also had an adverse 
impact on the current budget situation. For example, there has been an increase in 
demand for parent and baby placements and there has been an increased pressure on 
Courts to keep parents and children together. Other market pressures, such as the 
impact of Covid-19 may also be a factor in the current increased unit cost although it is 
difficult to attribute individual factors as the single cause. 
 
The Defining Children and Family Services and Children’s Innovation Partnership 
programmes both include focus on prevention & drift and ensuring the right setting first 
time. This includes creating an Assessment and Referral Team and Hub and additional 
residential multi-functional capacity which will have a positive impact on placement 

16



 

5 
 

availability and suitability reducing reliance on out of county placements and is reflected 
in the increased savings. 
 

 
** G2 – Front Line Social Care Staff – Increased Caseloads £3m 2021/22 rising to 
£4.9m 2024/25 
 
Investment in additional front-line social care staff capacity is required to ensure 
appropriate caseload levels and to continue to meet statutory duties. 
 
Growth of social workers was included in last year’s MTFS but it has become apparent 
that increased social workers and demands have also created an additional demand on 
infrastructure of supporting social care staff.  The increased growth reflects this and all 
known demand pressures. 
 
The department has historically had to use agency staff to maintain manageable 
caseloads across social workers and recruitment and retention strategies and plans 
were updated to reduce this reliance. During the current year, positive progress has 
been made recruiting social workers and reducing the reliance on agency. However, the 
coronavirus has impacted the scale to which this was to be achieved.  
 
Within the Defining Children and Families Services programme there is an opportunity to 
re-design the social care pathway and target operating model ensuring further 
consistency and productivity improvements. 
 
 
** G3 - Social Care Staff Market Premia - £20k 2021/22 rising to £80K in 2024/25 
This growth remains unchanged from the previous MTFS other than extended for the 
new fourth year of the MTFS of 2024/25. This growth enables the council to continue to 
recruit and retain key social work staff in an extremely competitive market place where 
there are significant differences in pay structure and grades across the East Midlands. 

 
 
** G4 – Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children- £50k 2021/22 rising to £200k 
2024/25  
Demand on this budget had previously increased significantly over the last couple of 
financial years. This resulted in a growth bid in the previous MTFS of £750k over the 
next 3 years for additional staffing to manage demand and funding above the levels 
provided by the Home Office. 
 
The levels of demand and costs have largely been contained within budget for the 
current financial year, helped by the Home Office increasing the funding rates last year. 
Although increased demands are still a risk, there aren’t any current known factors that 
suggest the previous growth is still required at that level, hence the reduction to £50k per 
annum (from £250k pa).  This is a volatile budget though that can change quickly so will 
be monitored regularly and updates provided accordingly. 
 
G5 – School Place Planning (reduced funding) - £240k 2021/22  
The school organisation service is responsible for the planning and delivery of school 
places. In the short term this service has been supported from the creation of a specific 
reserve which is now depleted and Basic Need Funding has been decreased. This 
budget growth is to continue to deliver the school accommodation programme at the 

17



 

6 
 

same level and respond to the negotiation and delivery of S106 contributions as well as 
take on responsibility for planning for SEN places. A review is underway to establish 
whether any of these resources can be recharged to the capital programme. 

 
 
G6 – Increased demand for Legal Costs - £400k 2021/22  
The legal budget has been under pressure for a number of years and over the past year 
there has been a significant increase in the number of care proceedings lodged with the 
court (i.e. consistently averaging double figures every month compared to the year 
before which had monthly single figures) and this has resulted in a forecast £0.4m 
overspend in 2020/21.There are no indications that this level of demand will reduce any 
time soon hence there is a growth bid to address the ongoing budget shortfall.  
 
This growth provides for an additional two cases per month as per the increase seen in 
2020/21 with each care proceedings case costing on average £20k, taking into account 
the court issue fees, expert fees, cost of using Counsel, forensic testing 
(drugs/alcohol/paternity) and the cost of using agency solicitors.  

 
There are other aggravating issues which are compounding the pressure on case costs: 

• Costs of medical experts such as psychiatrists and paediatricians. There are now 
strict maximum amounts which can be claimed as legal aid in relation to the costs of 
these experts, which are significantly lower than the usual hourly rate actually being 
charged by medical experts. This means that on jointly instructed cases many 
experts will now refuse to take legal aid funded work on unless the local authority will 
meet the balance between their hourly rate and what legal aid will pay them resulting 
in the local authority paying a disproportionate amount of the overall bill. There is a 
limit to what the courts can do to regulate this and where an expert is considered 
necessary, the default position is that the local authority makes up any shortfall, as it 
is the applicant. 
 

• Costs of independent social work assessments - there is an upward trend in the 
courts ordering these assessments.  
 

• Costs of paying assessments under the pre-proceedings process. The court now 
expects the local authority to have undertaken all its assessments before lodging 
care proceedings, unless the case is very urgent. If the social work team considers 
that it needs an expert assessment undertaken within the pre-proceedings process 
and forensic testing, then this has to be paid for solely by the local authority. 

 
Savings  

 
18. Details of proposed savings for the local authority budget are set out in Appendix B and 

total £3.75m in 2021/22 and £16m over the next four years in total. Additionally, the High 
Needs Development Plan aims to ensure sustainable services for children and young 
people with Special Educational Needs (SEN) within the High Needs Block of the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG); in order to achieve this objective, cost reductions of 
£25.8m are required over the period of the MTFS. 

 
19. The following paragraphs provide the detail of each savings item; 
 

CF1 Eff – Defining Children and Family Services for the Future Programme - £2.2m 
2021/22 rising to £13.2m by 2024/25 

18



 

7 
 

 
Consultants Newton Europe in collaboration with CFS and other County Council 
colleagues have jointly undertaken a Diagnostic exercise to identify potential 
opportunities for improving outcomes for children and young people across Children’s 
Social Care. 
 
The outcome of this diagnostic is the identification of a number of opportunities across 
pathways, settings and the Disabled Children’s Service to take forward in a programme 
of Transformation. These opportunities are about developing and future-proofing 
Children and Family Services so that the right interventions are delivered in the right 
way, at the right time, to ensure that children, young people and families achieve the 
best possible outcomes while also ensuring that the service is financially sustainable 
going forwards.  

 
A Gateway review of the diagnostic was undertaken at the end of 2020 with reports to 
the Cabinet, Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee and CMT. The 
programme has now commenced to the next design and implementation phases of this 
transformation programme.  
 
The aim of this programme will be to develop CFS’s operating model to align with the 
service strategy as well as the County Council’s financial objectives; building on the 
improvement journey already commenced by the CFS department aligned to the latest 
Ofsted objectives.  
 
A programme team comprising of Newton Europe, CFS Directorate and Service 
Managers (as well as other LCC enabler resources such as Transformation, Business 
Intelligence and Finance) has been created to implement the opportunities identified with 
a focus as much on culture change as re-design, crucial in any sustainable change 
programme. 
 
The approach is fundamentally based on the following principles: 

• It is about placing the best and most independent outcome for the service user at 
the heart of any changes to enable joint improvement of outcomes, staff ways of 
working and financial performance; 
• It will be a bottom up/practitioner led-re-design and change programme where 
engagement, training and uptake of new ways of working are actively monitored; 
• Mentoring and development of staff as well as improvements to Business 
Intelligence outputs will enable front-line managers.  

 
The savings targets attached to these opportunities are at this stage headline estimates; 
identified through a thorough cross-combination of practitioner workshops as well as 
evaluation of activity, performance and financial information validated by business 
partners and at Gateway review. More detailed financial implications will be prepared as 
part of the next phase as the design, delivery plans and timing take shape. There is 
more potential for increasing the savings through “stretch” targets, but these will be 
evaluated as part of the design phase. 

 
The savings have been amalgamated within the following headings and more details 
provided in the template below: 

• Pathways  

o Prevention 

o Drift 

19



 

8 
 

o Demand led establishment model 

• Settings – focuses on the placement and unit costs of those placements 

including Residential care, Fostering and Supported Lodgings for young people 

over 16 

• Disabled Children’s Service enablement – focuses on developing an enablement 

focussed culture and practice to support earlier independence focussed transition 

planning for adulthood.  

 
CF4 -Eff – Children’s Innovation Partnership - Assessment and Resource Team, 
Hub and Residential re-design -  £50k in 2021/22 rising to £500k by 2024/25 
 
These savings are attributable to the new models of care that have been co-designed 
within the Children’s Innovation Partnership with Barnardo’s, as outlined to the Cabinet 
in March 2020 when an investment budget of up to £2.5m was agreed. 
 
The two main components that these savings are based on are to: 

1. Create an Assessment and Resource Team (ART) and Hub to work with 
children and young people in both an outreach capacity and within assessment 
beds held in the hub. This ART comprises of a number of specialist roles to 
support up to 12 young people at a time with support including crisis intervention, 
comprehensive assessment and care planning, transitionary support packages 
and family work to facilitate a return to home where possible. Land that the 
County Council already owns in Coalville has been identified as the location for 
the hub with an expected completion date for the hub build of Summer 2022. 
 

2. Build Multi-functional Residential Properties to create more capacity that can 
be used flexibly to meet ever changing demands, for example to meet the current 
increasing need for parent and baby placements. So far, properties at Market 
Harborough, Glenfield and Hinckley have been identified as potentially meeting 
these needs and a thorough evaluation is being undertaken.   

 
This programme is designed to improve the outcomes of children and young 
people in care in Leicestershire and enable the Department to ensure effective 
provision to the most vulnerable children and at an agreed cost. This will allow for 
children to be placed in the right placements first time and receive the most 
appropriate support tailored to their needs and improve placement stability as well 
as delivering efficiency savings.  

 
The financial benefits are expected to materialise from reduced placement costs 
and reduced social worker resource through less placements being made out of 
county and reduced placement breakdown which often results in higher cost 
placements.  Each property scheme will be evaluated on its own merits. 

 
 
CF5 - Eff – Departmental Efficiency Savings - £1.5m in 2021/22 to £2.3m by 2024/25 
 
These savings are to build on the work the department has undertaken in the current 
year to identify short term savings to mitigate some of the in-year increased social care 
staff and placement costs and to incorporate the additional corporate spend controls 
implemented across the authority.  

20



 

9 
 

The savings will be focused on those service areas that are not in the direct scope of the 
Defining Children and Family Services for the Future programme. These savings are 
expected to be efficiencies rather than service reductions or income generation. 
 
Examples of savings include targets being set across the department to reduce printing, 
stationery, postage, IT equipment, training and travel expenses particularly in light of the 
remoter ways of working that have been a feature of the last year; and a review of 
Payment Card usage and levels. All vacant posts are being continuously reviewed and 
held or appointed to depending on their need.   

 
The next steps are to identify which of the short-term savings implemented in the current 

financial year can be made permanent and also to identify new savings. The 

Transformation Unit have a Cost Reduction tool and methodology available to deploy 

with Service Managers, working with Finance and Business Support colleagues to 

undertake forensic analysis and identify and implement ongoing opportunities. 

 
Savings Under Development 
 
20. All potentially identified savings are encompassed in the main programmes outlined in 

the savings section above.  These programmes are extensive and cover all of the 
department to achieve £16m of savings within four years and will therefore consume a 
significant amount of internal and programme and other enabler resources to achieve.  
That isn’t to say that the department won’t continue to seek additional opportunities 
where they arise. For example, once the first tranche of residential properties under the 
Children’s Innovation Partnership is up and running, there may be a case to invest in 
more internally owned provision depending on the market place and demands. 

 
21. Service Redesign for SEND Services also continues to be supported by the 

Transformation Unit. This will not deliver any additional budgetary savings but will 
contribute to the recovery of the High Needs Deficit which is currently projected as 
£5.6m for 2021/22. 

 
Dedicated Schools Grant 
 
22. For 2021/22 the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) remains calculated in four separate 

blocks as set out below; 
 

Funding Block Areas Funded Basis for Settlement 

Schools Block 
Est £455.2m 
consisting of; 
 

• School 
formula 
funding  
£452.8m 

 

• School 
Growth  
£2.4m  

Individual budgets for 
maintained schools and 
academies.  
 
Growth funding for the 
revenue costs of delivering 
additional mainstream school 
places and to meet the local 
authorities duty to ensure a 
sufficient number of school 
places.  
 

2021/22 continues the 
movement towards a 
National Funding Formula 
(NFF) for schools which 
attributes units of funding to 
pupil characteristics. The 
grant settlement is based on; 

• the aggregate of pupil led 
characteristics for each 
individual school; 

• an allocation for school 
led factors. 

21



 

10 
 

DSG is notionally allocated 
to Leicestershire for all 
maintained schools and 
academies. A locally agreed 
funding formula is applied to 
this to determine school 
budgets, for maintained 
schools these are allocated 
directly by the local authority, 
for academies the funding is 
recouped from the 
settlement by the Education 
and Skills Funding Agency 
(ESFA) who then directly 
fund academies. 
 
For 2021/22 the funding 
block now includes a transfer 
of funding for teacher pay 
and pension grants for 
maintained schools formerly 
funded through specific 
grant.  

 
These allocations will be fully 
delegated to schools.  
 
 
The NFF means that all local 
authorities receive the same 
amount of funding for a 
number of pupil related 
characteristics. Difference in 
funding levels relate to the 
incidence of pupil 
characteristics rather than 
differing funding levels 
 
 
The allocation of funding to 
support new school growth 
will be retained to meet the 
future costs of new and 
expanding schools. 
 
In respect of school formula 
funding this represents a 
cash increase of 9.7% as a 
result of increased pupil 
numbers, pay and pension 
grant transfer and national 
2021/22 minimum funding 
guarantees. Growth funding 
is estimated to remain at 
previous levels. 
 
 

Central School 
Services Block 
£3.6m 

This funds historic financial 
commitments related to 
schools such as premature 
retirement costs, some 
budgets related to schools 
that are centrally retained 
e.g. admissions, servicing 
the Schools Forum and 
school copyright licences. 
This block now includes 
funding from the retained 
duties element of the former 
Education Services Grant for 
the responsibilities that local 
authorities have for all pupils 
such as school place 
planning and asset 
management. 

This is distributed through a 
per pupil allocation basis and 
is retained by the local 
authority. 
 
The funding allocation for 
some historic financial 
commitments is being 
reduced nationally as the 
DfE have an expectation that 
these financial commitments 
will naturally expire. 
However, this element of 
funding meets the cost of 
historic premature retirement 
costs for teaching staff that 
will remain. This will be a 
financial pressure for the 

22



 

11 
 

 
For 2021/22 this funding 
block now includes a transfer 
of funding for teacher pay 
and pension grants for 
centrally employed teachers 
formerly funded through 
specific grant 
 

medium term as this funding 
is phased out but 
commitments retained.  
 

High Needs 
Block  
 
Est £83.1m 

Funds special schools and 
other specialist providers for 
high needs pupils and 
students, the pupil referral 
unit and support services for 
high needs pupils including 
high needs students in 
further education provision. 
 
As with the Schools Block 
this includes funding for 
special academies and post 
16 providers which is 
recouped by the ESFA who 
then directly fund 
academies. 
 
For 2021/22 this element of 
grant now includes a transfer 
of funding for teacher pay 
and pension grants for 
special schools formerly 
funded through specific 
grant. 
 
Confirmation of the 2021/22 
grant is not expected until 
March 2021. 
  

The formula is based upon 
population of 0-19 year olds 
and proxy indicators for 
additional educational need 
including deprivation, ill 
heath, disability and low 
attainment. Also included is 
an element based on historic 
spend. The formula also 
includes a funding floor to 
ensure that local authorities 
do not receive a funding 
reduction as a result of the 
introduction of the formula. 
Leicestershire receives 
£1.5m through this element. 
 
The grant allocation includes 
the additional funding 
announced by the DfE in 
September 2019 and is an 
increase of 8% per head of 
population from the 2021/22 
baseline. 
 

Early Years Est 
£36.4m   
 

Funds the Free Entitlement 
to Early Education (FEEE) 
for 2, 3 and 4 year olds and 
an element of the early 
learning and childcare 
service. 
 
The grant is based on the 
universal hourly base rate 
plus additional needs 
measured with reference to 
free school meals, disability 
living allowance and english 
as an additional language.  

The allocation is based on 
individual pupil 
characteristics and 
converted to a rate per hour 
of participation. 
Leicestershire receives the 
lowest rate of £4.44 per hour 
for 3 and 4 year olds and the 
lowest rate of £5.36 per hour 
for disadvantaged 2 year 
olds. 
 
This position is an increase 
of funding of £0.08 per hour 

23



 

12 
 

 
The initial settlement is 
based on the October 2020 
census. The grant will be 
updated in July 2021 for the 
January census and again in 
June 2022 for the January 
2022 census. The final grant 
will not be confirmed until 
June 2022. 
 

for 2 year old funding and 
£0.06 for 3 and 4 year old 
funding, +1.0% for 3 & 4 
year old funding and +1.5% 
for 2 year old funding from 
the 2020/21 baseline. 

£578.3m 2021/22 Estimated DSG 

 
23. The 2021/22 MTFS continues to set the overall Schools Budget as a net nil budget at local 

authority level. However, in 2021/22 there is a funding gap of £5.6m on the High Needs 
Block which will be carried forward as an overspend against the grant.  

 
Schools Block  
 
24. 2021/22 sees a further movement towards the National Funding Formula (NFF). This 

funds all pupils at the same rate irrespective of the authority in which they are educated. 
The NFF uses pupil characteristics each with a nationally set funding rate to generate 
school level funding to local authorities. Within the NFF only the per pupil entitlement is 
universal to all, other factors reflect the incidence of additional needs such as 
deprivation and low prior attainment. Funding levels between local authorities and 
individual schools within those local authorities vary as a result of pupil characteristics 
rather than national funding levels.  

 
25. School funding remains a ‘soft’ school funding formula for 2021/22. A ‘soft’ formula is 

where NFF calculates notional school allocations based upon pupil characteristics to 
generate the grant allocation, local authorities then apply their own local funding formula 
to generate individual school budgets.  The Department for Education (DfE) has 
confirmed its intention to move to a ‘hard’ formula as soon as possible where every 
school budget will be set on the basis of a single, national formula. A consultation is 
expected from the DfE in early 2021 on the next stage of transition to the NFF. 

 
26. Within the Schools Block, but separate to funding for individual schools, local authorities 

receive funding for the initial revenue costs of commissioning additional primary and 
secondary school places. The allocation for 2020/21 was £3.3m and 2021/22 funding 
will reduce to £2.4m. The revenue cost of commissioning a new school ranges from 
£0.5m to £0.8m for a primary and £2.2m to £2.5m for a secondary, depending upon size 
and opening arrangements. 26 new primary and 3 new secondary schools are expected 
to be built in Leicestershire in the medium to long term. The revenue requirement for 
new schools is difficult to assess as it is dependent upon the speed of housing 
developments, growth in the basic need for additional school places, the school funding 
formula and the level and the methodology for the DSG growth funding calculation. 
However, early estimates suggest the cost can be managed within the existing grant. 
Expenditure is expected to rise annually from 2021/22 and to peak at £5m in 2023/24, 
annual underspends in growth funding will be set aside in the DSG Earmarked Fund to 
meet this peak. This position will be closely monitored. 

24



 

13 
 

School Funding Formula  

27. Nationally schools will receive a minimum per pupil increase in funding of 2% per pupil 
with no capping on increases. Minimum per pupil funding levels of £4,180 for primary, 
£5,215 per KS3 pupil and £5,715 per KS4 pupil are mandatory. These values include a 
transfer of funding into the NFF for funding for teachers’ pay and pensions that was 
previously funded through specific grant. Despite the overall increase in budget, at 
individual schools there are 91 (40%) primary and 4 (9%) secondary schools funded at 
the funding floor. This is an increase from the 2019/20 position of 70 (32%) of primary 
schools and 1 (2%) of secondary schools. These schools, despite additional funding, will 
experience a real terms decrease in income and can be expected to fair least favourably 
from the implementation of a hard NFF without minimum funding increases. As the 
funding guarantee is at pupil level, schools with decreases in pupil numbers will see an 
overall decrease in budget allocation. 

28. The 2021/22 Schools Block provisional DSG settlement is £455.2m, which is based 
upon the 2019 October school census. This includes a transfer of funding of £20.2m for 
the Teachers’ Pay and Pensions Grant previously paid directly to schools but from 
2021 will be included in the NFF. Within this block is also an allocation of £2.4m of 
growth funding allocated to meet the revenue costs of new and expanding schools.  

29. The NFF for schools is based upon the 2020 School Census but funding for local 
authorities is based upon the pupil characteristics recorded on the 2019 school census. 
Nationally there is concern that the number of pupils recorded in receipt of Free School 
Meals and pupils that trigger deprivation funding may have increased as a result of the 
Coronavirus Pandemic. Any increase would be unfunded and could result in the cost of 
fully delivering the NFF being unable to be met from the Schools Bock DSG. This 
position will be reviewed once individual school data from the 2020 Census has been 
analysed. The national regulations allow for an adjustment within the formula to ensure 
the budgets for schools can be met from the DSG allocation. Local authorities are 
required to submit their funding formula to the ESFA in mid January. 

 
High Needs 
 
30. 2021/22 is the second year of a three-year settlement for school funding and nationally 

high needs funding has increased by £730m (10%). Local authorities have a guaranteed 
minimum increase of 8% per head of population and are capped at a 12% increase. 
Leicestershire remains on the funding floor and receives an increase of 8%. The 
settlement includes £1.5m of protection funding which is not guaranteed in the long 
term.  

31. The provisional High Needs DSG is £83.1m and includes a transfer of funding in respect 
of former teacher pay and pension grants for special schools which will be paid directly 
to them for 2021/22.  The settlement will be updated in June 2021 for the most recent 
data.  The formula allocates funding across a set of pupil-related indicators and also 
includes an allocation based on historic spend.   

32. The High Needs Development Plan remains the Council’s approach to planning, 
commissioning and delivering SEND services focused on three key areas: 

• To develop and embed an inclusive approach to practice amongst schools, local 
authority staff and other settings; 

25



 

14 
 

• The modernisation of SEN Services through improved commissioning, processes, 
decision-making and quality assurance; 

• The development of a range of cost-effective, high quality provision. 

33. The forecast position on the High Needs element of the DSG is shown below: 
 

 

  
2021/22 

£,000 
2022/23 

£,000 
2023/24 

£,000 
2024/25 

£,000 

High Needs Funding -81,964 -81,964 -81,964 -81,964 

          

Placement Costs 87,096 94,345 98,987 103,545 

Other HNB Cost 8,708 8,708 8,708 8,708 

Commissioning Cost - New Places 1,908 1,416 667 44 

Project Costs 1,059 0 0 0 

Total Expenditure 98,771 104,469 108,362 112,297 

          

Funding Gap Pre Savings 16,807 22,505 26,398 30,333 

          

Funding Changes 0 -6,544 -4,544 -4,544 

Demand Savings -4,447 -5,076 -5,577 -5,577 

Benefit of Local Provision and Practice Improvements -6,710 -11,017 -14,187 -15,695 

          

Total Savings -11,157 -22,637 -24,308 -25,816 

          

Annual Revenue Funding Gap 5,650 -132 2,089 4,517 

          

2019/20 Deficit Brought Forward 7,062       

2020/21 High Needs Deficit Brought Forward 10,011       

          

Cumulative Funding Gap 22,723 22,591 24,680 29,197 

 
 

34. National research sets out systematic problems with the SEND system that are 
responsible for high needs deficits. The research shows that deficits are growing within 
almost all local authorities in a deficit position or close to that position. Amongst a 
number of findings research commissioned by the Local Government Association 
reported that there are structural features of the SEND system which would lead to 
deficits even if budgets were significantly increased and that local authorities bear all the 
risk in this area but have no levers with which to influence demand and cost. The DfE 
have undertaken a review of the SEND system but it is unclear when any findings from 
that research will be published. 

35. The funding position above includes a transfer from the Schools Block DSG to High 
Needs in 2022/23 of £2m. Schools will be engaged in developing proposals for the 
transfer early in 2021 before entering into consultation and seeking approval from the 
Schools Forum. Should Schools Forum not approve a transfer then permission may be 
sought from the Secretary of State. If approval cannot be secured the financial position 
for 2022/23 will worsen by £2m in 2022/23 only. 

26



 

15 
 

36. Local authorities are now required to carry forward DSG deficits to the following year 
and may only now contribute to DSG with the approval of the Secretary of State. Whilst 
this is the approach the DfE have encapsulated in legislation, it is not a sustainable or 
reasonable approach. Without the DfE addressing this through additional funding, local 
authorities will be required to set aside resources to offset the deficit. 

  
Central Services Block  
 
37. The central services block funds school-related expenditure items such as existing 

school-based premature retirement costs, copyright licences under a national DfE 
contract for all schools and other historic costs and the settlement is £3.6m for 2021/22 
and includes funding transferred in respect of the former teacher pay and pensions grant 
for teachers employed centrally across the County Council.  

38. The settlement reduces the funding for historic commitments. This is being reduced by 
20% but a guarantee is in place to ensure that funding doesn’t decrease below the 
financial commitment to meet former teacher employment costs. This has resulted in a 
loss of £147k, but this has been offset by an increase in formula funding of £178k.  

 
Early Years Block 
 
39. Nationally early years funding has been increased by £66m.  The grant remains 

determined by the number of children participating in early years education.  The funding 
supports the 30 hours Free Entitlement to Early Education (FEEE) for eligible parents 
and continued delivery of the early years offer for disadvantaged two year olds. The 
increase in funding equates to £0.08 per hour (1.5%) for 2 year olds and  £0.06  per 
hour (1%) for 3 and 4 year olds. Leicestershire continues to receive the lowest rate per 
hour at £5.36 per hour for 2 year olds and £4.44 per hour for 3 and 4 year olds. The 
maximum of 5% of the overall settlement is retained to fund the early learning service 
which fulfils local authority’s statutory duty to ensure sufficiency of places for those 
parents that request one. 

 
Other Funding Sources  
 
40. Grants are largely received from the DfE with details of all specific grants for the 

department for 2021/22detailed below; 
 

• Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) £578.3m. The purpose of this grant is detailed in 
other sections of this report. 

 

• Maintained School sixth forms (£0.4m est). This funding is paid to the local 
authority by ESFA for maintained school sixth forms. The allocations are made 
according to a national formula and paid over to school in full. Academies with 
sixth forms receive this funding directly from the ESFA. 

 

• Pupil Premium (£5.2m est). Passported to schools to raise the attainment of 
disadvantaged pupils. This figure excludes academy allocations which are paid 
directly by the ESFA. The funding rates in 2021/22 will remain the same as 
2020/21. 

 

27



 

16 
 

• Universal Infant Free School Meals (£2.7m est). The Children and Families Act 
2014 placed a legal duty on all state-funded schools in England to offer a free 
school lunch to all pupils in reception, year 1 and year 2 from September 
2014.This grant is fully passported to schools to fund this responsibility. This 
figure excludes academy allocations with are paid directly by the ESFA. The grant 
has not been confirmed and is assumed to be at the same level as 2020/21. 

 

• PE and Sports Grant (£1.5m est). The grant is passported to schools to deliver 
additional and sustainable improvements to the provision of PE and sport for the 
benefit of all pupils to encourage the development of healthy, active lifestyles. 
This figure excludes academy allocations with are paid directly by the ESFA. The 
grant has not been confirmed and is assumed to be at the same level as 2020/21. 

 

• Asylum Seekers (£0.9m est). This supports the cost of supporting 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. The grant is variable and dependent 
upon the number and age of children supported. It is assumed that the grant 
remains as 2020/21. 

 

• Staying Put Implementation Grant (£0.09m est).  The Children and Families Act 
2014 introduced a new duty on local authorities to support young people to 
continue to live with their former foster carers once they turn 18 (the ‘Staying Put’ 
duty). This duty came into force on 13 May 2014. The grant has not been 
confirmed and is assumed to be at the same level as 2020/21. 

 

• Virtual School (£0.09m est). The Children and Social Work Act 2017 places a 
new duty on local authorities to provide for the education of certain previously 
looked after children and supported by the provision of a specific grant. The grant 
has not been confirmed and is assumed at the same level as 2020/21. 

 

• Personal Advisors to Care Leavers (£0.04m est). The children and Social Work 
Act extended the duty on local authorities to provide Personal Advisor (PA) 
support from age 21 to age 25 if they wish to access this support. The grant has 
not been confirmed and has been assumed to be at the same level as 2020/21. 

 

• Youth Justice Good Practice (£0.5m est). The purpose of the Youth Justice Good 
Practice Grant is to develop good practice and commission research, with a view 
to achieving a reduction in youth re-offending, reduction in the numbers of first- 
time entrants to the justice system and reduction in the use of youth custody. The 
grant has not been confirmed and is assumed to be at the same level as 2020/21.  

 

• Troubled Families Programme (£1m est). Three elements of grant are received 
from the Government for this national programme, the first for engaging families 
within the programme, the second is payment for results for meeting the 
Government’s targets and the third to fund service development. The grant 
amount has not been confirmed but a commitment was provided in the 2020 
Spending Review so is assumed at the same level as 2020/21.  Future years’ 

28



 

17 
 

funding may be at risk and if not renewed a restructure and scaling back of the 
service or redistribution of funds from other services will need to be considered. 

 

• School Improvement Grant (£0.3m est). This was a new grant from September 
2017 for local authorities to co-ordinate school improvement activity in schools.   

 

• Early Years Disability Access Grant (£0.1m est). Supports access for children with 
disabilities to attend nursery providers 

 

• Early Years Pupil Premium ( £0.2m est). Supports deprived children accessing the 
free entitlement to early education.  

 

• Teachers Pay and Pension Grants. These were separate grants in 2020/21, and 
are now incorporated in the Dedicated Schools Grant in 2021/22 

 

• Covid-19 Catch Up Premium (£0.7m est). This grant became available in 2020/21 

to support schools to help pupils make up for lost teaching time. The grant will 

continue in the Summer Term 2021. This grant is passported directly to maintained 
schools with academies receiving funding directly from the ESFA. 

 
 
Expected Reforms  
 

41. In February 2020, the Education Secretary, Gavin Williamson promised a “fundamental 
look across children’s social care”. However, due to the Covid-19 crisis the review was 
delayed.  

 
42. In November 2020 the Children’s Minister, Vicky Ford, announced that the review 

would be recommencing.  Ms Ford also referred to the government’s review of special 
education needs and disabilities (SEND), initially launched in September 2019, stating 
that it is progressing well and is considering measures to make the system “more 
robust and high quality” and “getting in early to really help those children”. The review 
is expected to assess how this system has evolved since the introduction of education, 
health and care plans back in 2014 and look at links with health care provision with talk 
about aligning incentives and accountability for schools, colleges and local authorities 
to make sure they provide the best support for children and young people with SEND. 
The outcome of this review is expected later in 2021. 

 
 

Capital Programme  
 
43.  The proposed Children and Family Services capital programme totals £84.4m, for which 

the majority (£82.9m) there is external funding expected, resulting in only £1.5m call on 
LCC capital funding over the four year life of the proposed MTFS. The programme 
continues to focus upon the delivery of additional primary and secondary school places 
and additional places to be delivered to support the High Needs Development Plan. 
£58m is proposed to be invested in the provision of additional placements; £14m for 
SEN and £12m for other schemes as per the summary table below and further details in 
Appendix C:  

 
 

29



 

18 
 

 2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

2023/24 
£000 

2024/25 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Additional School Places 29,543 9,478 5,300 14,000 58.321 

SEND Programme 5,000 1,000 8,000 0 14.000 

Other Capital 3,959 2,891 2,750 2,500 12,100 

Total 38,502 13,369 16,050 16,500 84,421 

 
 

Provision of Additional School Places – the programme is funded through 
the Basic Need grant from the DfE and S106 developer contributions. For the latter it is 
assumed that the receipt will fully fund the scheme. The latter two years of the 
programme make provision for new schools fully funded by S106 funding at Hinckley, 
Thorpebury and Market Harborough. These schools are included in their expected year 
of development however this is dependent on the speed of the related housing 
developments. 

 
 Additionally, schools built by developers under S106 requirements are expected in the 

period of the MTFS at Castle Donnington and South East Coalville. As there is no actual 
monetary impact on the programme these have not been included in the above figures. 

 
Significant future housing development in the Melton area will lead to an increased 
requirement for school places.  However, the expected timeline is such that the 
investment is presently assumed to be beyond the timescale of this MTFS.  There is 
currently spare capacity in the Melton catchment area to address any initial requirement 
for places.   
 
It is envisaged that over the four years of the MTFS an additional 3,800 mainstream 
school places and an additional 200 places for children and young people with SEND 
will be created. 

 
 SEND Programme – the programme contains funding for completion of the 

developments to support the High Needs Development plan and the completion of the 
Department for Education (DfE) funded school for pupils with Social, Emotional and 
Mental Health Needs (SEMH) at Shepshed. The development of this school requires 
complex restructuring of the Iveshead campus in Shepshed which will meet a number of 
needs (Iveshead school being housed in one building, the expansion of primary 
provision, the development of the special school, the establishment of a special needs 
unit and the co-location of the Oakfield Pupil Referral Unit). The DfE has advised the 
local authority that it must cover ‘abnormal costs’ incurred in the construction of the new 
SEMH school, such as the demolition of the existing building and levelling of the land.  
These abnormal costs have been included in the MTFS at an estimate of £1.5m. 

 
Residential Design Brief- a capital investment budget envelope of £2.5m was agreed 
by the Cabinet in March 2020 to develop an assessment hub and flexible multi-
functional properties to create in-house capacity to provide a better suitability of 
placements and at lower cost.  Properties have been identified to date in Market 
Harborough, Glenfield and Hinckley providing a capacity for up to 12 placements and 
each property scheme is currently being evaluated for the service, property and financial 
implications. 
 

30



 

19 
 

44. The majority of the capital programme is likely to be funded by external grant and 
developer S106 contributions as follows : 

 

 
 

 
Basic Need Grant - is received from the DfE based upon the need to create additional 
school places. Grant of £22.1m for the year 2021/22 has been confirmed but estimates   
of £7.5m have been included for the final three years of the programme. The grant 
reflects the overall place need across the County and for both maintained schools and 
academies. The grant meets the infrastructure costs of creating new places in primary 
and secondary schools. Eligible revenue costs fall to be met from the local authorities 
growth fund funded from DSG for primary and secondary schools. No funding is 
received for the revenue and capital costs of additional places for SEND. 
 
Strategic Maintenance Grant – is received from the DfE for the maintenance of 
maintained schools only. This grant is based on a formula that considers pupil numbers 
and the overall condition of the school estate. The grant reduces as schools convert to 
academies. £1.8bn was confirmed in the November 2020 Spending Review but 
individual local authority allocations are yet to be confirmed. An assumption of £2m per 
annum has been included in the MTFS.  
 
S106 Contributions – it is estimated that a total of £29.6m of S106 contributions will be 
received to fund the proposed programme, £8.4m in 2021/22. Estimates for the latter 
two years of the MTFS are less certain and are dependent upon the speed of housing 
developments.  It is estimated that the full costs of new schools required on new housing 
developments will be fully funded from S106 contributions. 
 
SEND Provision Capital Grant – this grant was announced during 2017/18 by the DfE 
(and in response to the introduction of the National Funding formula for High Needs) to 
provide local authorities with capital to develop cost effective SEN provision and was 
expected to finish in 2020/21. Nothing has been included in the MTFS from and 
including 2021/22 however the November 2020 Spending did commit to further national 
capital expenditure totalling £300m for new school places for children with SEND, but no 
details have been released yet. 
 
Free School Bid 
The programme includes funding from the DfE for £8m to build a new 50 place special 
school for children with Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs in 
Shepshed. The DfE has approved the bid and negotiations are on-going with the on the 
scope and funding arrangements for the build. 

 

Capital Resources 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Grants 24,648 8,000 11,500 3,500 47,648

External contributions / S106 8,373 3,678 3,780 13,720 29,551

Earmarked capital receipts 5,472 0 250 0 5,722

Total Available Funds 38,493 11,678 15,530 17,220 82,921

LCC Capital Funding Requirement 10 1,690 520 (720) 1,500

Total CFS Capital Programme Funding 38,503 13,368 16,050 16,500 84,421

31



 

20 
 

  
Background Papers 
 
Report to Cabinet 15 December 2020 – Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 to 2024/25 
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6000&Ver=4 
 
Report to Cabinet 7 February 2020 – Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 to 2023/24 
http://cexmodgov1/documents/g5992/Public%20reports%20pack%20Friday%2007-Feb-
2020%2011.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10 
 
Report to Cabinet – 24 March 2020 – Children’s Social Care Investment Plan  
Agenda for Cabinet on Tuesday, 24 March 2020, 2.00 pm - Leicestershire County Council 
 

Circulation under local issues alert procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Jane Moore, Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel: 0116 305 7441 
E-mail: Jane.Moore@Leics.gov.uk 
 
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 
E-mail: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Sara Bricknell, CFS Finance Business Partner 
Tel : 0116 30 57869 
E-mail : sara.bricknell@leics.gov.uk 
 
Jenny Lawrence, Finance Business Partner (HN / SEN) 
Tel: 0116 305 6401 
E-mail: jenny.lawrence@leics.gov.uk 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Revenue Budget 2021/22 
Appendix B – Growth and Savings 2021/22 to 2024/25 
Appendix C – Capital Programme 2021/22 – 2024/25 
 
 

32

http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6000&Ver=4
http://cexmodgov1/documents/g5992/Public%20reports%20pack%20Friday%2007-Feb-2020%2011.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
http://cexmodgov1/documents/g5992/Public%20reports%20pack%20Friday%2007-Feb-2020%2011.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5993&Ver=4
mailto:Jane.Moore@Leics.gov.uk
mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:jenny.lawrence@leics.gov.uk


 

21 
 

Equality and Human Rights Implications  
 
48. Public authorities are required by law to have due regard to the need to: 

 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share protected characteristics 
and those who do not;  
and 

• Foster good relations between people who share protected characteristics and those 
who do not.   

 
49. Many aspects of the County Council’s MTFS may affect service users who have a 

protected characteristic under equalities legislation.  An assessment of the impact of the 
proposals on the protected groups must be undertaken at a formative stage prior to any 
final decisions being made. Such assessments will be undertaken in light of the potential 
impact of proposals and the timing of any proposed changes. Those assessments will be 
revised as the proposals are developed to ensure decision makers have information to 
understand the effect of any service change, policy or practice on people who have a 
protected characteristic. 
 

50. Proposals in relation to savings arising out of a reduction in posts will be subject to the 
County Council Organisational Change policy which requires an Equality Impact 
Assessment to be undertaken as part of the action plan.  

33



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A  

 

 

 

APPENDIX A

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 (1/2)

Budget   

20/21

Employees

Running 

Expenses

Internal 

Income

Gross 

Budget

External 

Income

Net Total 

21/22 Schools Early Years High Needs

Dedicated 

Schools 

Grant LA Block

£ £ £ £ £ £

1,410,482 C&FS Directorate 1,290,356 82,126 0 1,372,482 38,000 1,410,482 18,499 44,230 153,947 216,676 1,193,806

2,079,659 C&FS Safeguarding 1,917,576 176,958 -44,875 2,049,659 150,000 2,199,659 0 0 0 0 2,199,659

137,936 LSCB 303,597 143,100 -56,244 390,453 -252,517 137,936 0 0 0 0 137,936

2,217,595 Safeguarding, Improvement & QA 2,221,173 320,058 -101,119 2,440,112 -102,517 2,337,595 0 0 0 0 2,337,595

1,445,743 Asylum Seekers 366,182 2,129,561 0 2,495,743 -1,000,000 1,495,743 0 0 0 0 1,495,743

4,145,382 C&FS Fostering & Adoption 4,384,286 699,897 0 5,084,182 -488,800 4,595,382 0 0 0 0 4,595,382

32,599,488 C&FS Operational Placements 86,536 39,217,952 0 39,304,488 -405,000 38,899,488 0 0 0 0 38,899,488

2,963,636 Children in Care Service 2,727,046 536,590 0 3,263,636 -40,000 3,223,636 0 0 0 0 3,223,636

594,709 Education of Children in Care 727,079 1,254,450 -98,500 1,883,029 -1,353,320 529,709 0 0 0 0 529,709

41,748,958 Total Children in Care 8,291,129 43,838,449 -98,500 52,031,078 -3,287,120 48,743,958 0 0 0 0 48,743,958

12,146,840 Fieldwork locality Teams 12,841,490 699,350 0 13,540,840 -29,000 13,511,840 0 0 0 0 13,511,840

1,132,916 Social Care Legal costs 0 1,532,916 0 1,532,916 0 1,532,916 0 0 0 0 1,532,916

13,279,756 Field Social Work 12,841,490 2,232,266 0 15,073,756 -29,000 15,044,756 0 0 0 0 15,044,756

342,299 Practice Excellence Team 324,932 53,367 0 378,299 -36,000 342,299 0 0 0 0 342,299

57,588,608 TOTAL CHILDRENS SOCIAL CARE 23,678,724 46,444,140 -449,619 69,673,245 -3,204,637 66,468,608 0 0 0 0 66,468,608

CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES DEPARTMENT

35



 

APPENDIX A

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 (2/2)
Budget   

20/21

Employees

Running 

Expenses

Internal 

Income

Gross 

Budget

External 

Income

Net Total 

21/22 Schools Early Years High Needs

Dedicated 

Schools 

Grant LA Block

9,157,789 Children & Families Wellbeing Service 10,063,323 2,674,997 -1,837,681 10,900,639 -2,622,850 8,277,789 0 0 0 0 8,277,789

1,352,199 Education Sufficiency 1,169,522 34,050 -108,173 1,095,399 -260,200 835,199 391,502 0 0 391,502 443,697

36,236,558 C&FS 0-5 Learning 2,403,296 35,247,524 0 37,650,820 -533,219 37,117,601 0 35,536,868 1,246,880 36,783,748 333,853

263,608 C&FS 5-19 Learning 476,564 357,057 -73,526 760,095 -468,165 291,930 252,067 0 0 252,067 39,863

3,569,000 Inclusion 1,027,604 2,741,396 0 3,769,000 -150,000 3,619,000 0 0 2,672,059 2,672,059 946,941

73,759 Governor Development Services 178,360 94,899 -76,500 196,759 -123,000 73,759 0 0 0 0 73,759

1,298,146 Pupil Referral Unit 0 1,298,146 -26,901 1,271,245 0 1,271,245 0 0 1,064,746 1,064,746 206,499

41,441,071 Total Education Quality & Inclusion 4,058,923 39,765,923 -176,927 43,647,919 -1,274,384 42,373,535 252,067 35,536,868 4,983,685 40,772,620 1,600,915

75,903,764 C&FS SEN 1,531,131 83,483,698 -4,082,614 80,932,215 -265,877 80,666,338 0 0 79,510,996 79,510,996 1,155,342

2,423,667 C&FS Specialist Services to Vulnerable Grps 2,274,135 325,635 0 2,599,770 -176,102 2,423,668 0 0 2,423,669 2,423,669 -1

1,143,427 C&FS Psychology Service 1,511,446 76,500 -429,645 1,158,301 -14,874 1,143,427 0 0 0 0 1,143,427

4,347,139 C&FS Disabled Children Service 3,147,836 1,200,303 0 4,348,139 -1,000 4,347,139 0 0 0 0 4,347,139

1,375,785 C&FS HNB Development Programme 1,025,690 33,800 0 1,059,490 0 1,059,490 0 0 1,059,490 1,059,490 0

-9,549,815 DSG Reserve Income (HNB) 0 0 -5,650,000 -5,650,000 0 -5,650,000 0 0 -5,649,999 -5,649,999 0

75,643,966 Total SEND & Children with Disabilities 9,490,238 85,119,936 -10,162,259 84,447,915 -457,853 83,990,062 0 0 77,344,156 77,344,156 6,645,907

4,906,485 C&FS Admin & Committees 3,179,840 717,250 -898,605 2,998,485 0 2,998,485 8,570 273,791 143,118 425,479 2,573,006

509,098 C&FS Finance 0 512,872 0 512,872 0 512,872 512,872 0 0 512,872 0

774,900 C&FS Human Resources 0 1,534,900 0 1,534,900 -45,000 1,489,900 674,900 0 0 674,900 815,000

735,800 C &FS Commissioning & Planning 723,550 12,250 0 735,800 0 735,800 0 0 0 0 735,800

312,944 C&FS Sub Transformation 55,718 257,226 0 312,944 0 312,944 0 0 0 0 312,944

7,239,227 Total Business Support and Commissioning 3,959,108 3,034,499 -898,605 6,095,002 -45,000 6,050,002 1,196,343 273,791 143,118 1,613,252 4,436,750

134,834,253 TOTAL EDUCATION & EARLY HELP 28,741,114 130,629,404 -13,183,644 146,186,874 -4,660,287 141,526,587 1,839,912 35,810,659 82,470,959 120,121,529 21,405,057

414,781,473 Total Individual Schools Budget 0 466,113,733 0 466,113,733 -11,058,877 455,054,856 455,179,591 0 -143,770 455,035,821 19,035

0 Dedicated Schools Grant Recoupment 0 -347,643,920 0 -347,643,920 347,643,920 0 0 0 0 0 0

2,285,220 Central Charges 0 2,285,220 0 2,285,220 0 2,285,220 1,434,683 210,848 639,689 2,285,220 0

-528,103,530 Dedicated Schools Grant 0 0 0 0 -577,659,247 -577,659,247 -458,472,685 -36,065,737 -83,120,825 -577,659,247 0

-111,036,837 TOTAL DSG ITEMS 0 120,755,033 0 120,755,033 -241,074,204 -120,319,171 -1,858,411 -35,854,889 -82,624,906 -120,338,206 19,035

82,796,506 TOTAL CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES 53,710,194 297,910,703 -13,633,263 337,987,633 -248,901,127 89,086,506 0 0 0 0 89,086,506

CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES DEPARTMENT

36



 

Appendix B

GROWTH 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000

CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES

Demand & cost increases

** G1 Demographic growth- Social Care Placements 6,300 9,600 13,400 17,200

** G2 Front-line social care staff - increased caseloads 3,030 3,685 4,520 4,935

** G3 Social Care market premia to support recruitment 20 40 60 80

** G4 Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers - additional demand 50 100 150 200

G5 School Place Planning 240 240 240 240

G6 Increased demand for legal costs 400 400 400 400

TOTAL 10,040 14,065 18,770 23,055

SAVINGS 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000

CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES

Defining CFS For the Future  Programme

** CF1 Eff Pathways -1,200 -2,100 -3,600 -4,800

CF2 Eff Settings -900 -2,900 -5,100 -8,100

CF3 Eff Disabled Children's Service Enablement -100 -300 -300 -300

Total Defining CFS For the Future Programme -2,200 -5,300 -9,000 -13,200

CF4 Eff Children’s Innovation Partnership -Assessment & Resource Team, 

Hub and Residential re-design -50 -200 -350 -500

CF5 Eff Departmental Efficiency Savings -1,500 -1,750 -2,000 -2,300

TOTAL -3,750 -7,250 -11,350 -16,000

References

References

37



 

APPENDIX C

CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

Capital Investments 2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

MAIN GRANT FUNDED PROGRAMME 

Admission Requirements / Minor Schemes to be defined 1,680 500 800 1,000 3,980

Ashby -  New Primary School 1,920 1,920

Countesthorpe/Blaby  Places 157 157

Fleckney Places 3,316 3,316

Rothley Primary (Phase 2) 2,526 2,526

Syston Primary 300 300

Shepshed School Places 6,406 6,406

Barrow Primary 1,500 1,500

Donisthorpe/Moira Primary 1,000 1,000

Higham on the Hill 1,000 1,000

Market Bosworth 1,000 1,000

Sapcote/Stoney Stanton 1,500 1,500

Ashby Secondary  760 760

Desford Secondary 500 500

Melton Secondary 750 750

Markfield Mercenfeld 0

Witherley 0

0

New S106  Schools 4,500 9,000 13,500

0

Fully Funded S106 Passported Schemes: 4,000 4,000

Castle Donington Secondary 600 600

Market Harborough 3,628 3,628

Lutterworth Primary 1,000 1,000

Broughton Astley School Places 928 928

Long Clawson 1,250 1,250

Whetstone 1,500 1,500

Primary School Places 1,500 1,500

Secondary School Places 3,300 3,300

Zero Carbon/COVID Contingency 500 500

Provision of Additional School Places 29,543 9,478 5,300 14,000 58,321

38



 

Capital Investments Cont'd 2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

SEND Programme

Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) Units 500 0 0 0 500

SEMH Special School - LA Developed 500 0 0 0 500

SEMH Special School - Free School 500 1,000 8,000 0 9,500

Communication and Interaction Difficulty Units 500 0 0 0 500

Expansion of Special Schools 3,000 0 0 0 3,000

Sub-total  - SEND Programme 5,000 1,000 8,000 0 14,000

Strategic Capital Maintenance 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 8,000

Schools Devolved Formula Capital 500 500 500 500 2,000

Schools Access / Security 200 200 200 0 600

Asessment & Resi Multi-functional properties x 4 1,260 190 50 0 1,500

Other Capital 3,960 2,890 2,750 2,500 12,100

Overall Total 38,503 13,368 16,050 16,500 84,421

Capital Resources 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Grants - Basic need* 22,148 5,500 1,000 1,000 29,648

Grants - Condition & DFC* 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 10,000

Grants - Special Provision Fund 0 0 0 0

Grants - Free SEMH Free School 0 0 8,000 8,000

External Contributions - S106 Prior years 0 0 0 0

External Contributions - S106 Named Schemes 3,145 3,678 0 4,000 10,823

External Contributions - S106 Named Passported Schemes 5,228 0 0 5,228

External Contributions - S106 New School 3,780 9,720 13,500

Earmarked Capital Receipts

SEND - Birkett House 1,000 0 0 1,000

SEND - Holliers Walk 750 0 0 750

SEND - Heathfield 3,722 0 0 3,722

Other - Earmarked Receipts - tbc 250 250
0

Total 38,493 11,678 15,530 17,220 82,921

Net Funding Required 10 1,690 520 -720 1,500

* - awaiting Government announcements for 22/23 onwards.

Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases

New Area Special School / SEN Resource Bases to meet increased demand for SEN places

39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE -   

19th January 2021 
 
UPDATE ON THE DEFINING CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES FOR 

THE FUTURE PROGRAMME  
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES  
 
Purpose of report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with details of the outcome of 
the diagnostic assessment, undertaken across Targeted Early Help and Children’s 
Social Care services and outline the next steps of the Defining Children services   
programme plan and approach to be taken. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
 
2. The Children Act 2004 allocates duties to Local Authorities to ensure that children are 

safeguarded, and their welfare is promoted; this key piece of legislation underpins the 

work of Children and Family Services with respect to Looked After Children, Children 

in Need and Children in Need of protection. 

 
3. Furthermore, The Children Act 2004 places a duty upon Local Authorities to make 

arrangements to promote co-operation between itself, organisations and agencies to 

improve the wellbeing of local children. 

 

4. The Children and Social Work Act 2017 strengthens this important relationship with 

partners by placing new duties on key agencies in a local area. Specifically, the police, 

clinical commissioning groups and the Local Authority work together in order to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of all children in their area. 

 

5. The Children and Families Act 2014 and the Care Act 2014 place a duty upon Local 

Authorities to commission education and health and social care services jointly and 

provide more streamlined and co-ordinated assessment processes. These key pieces 

of legislation are key influences for the future work of Children and Family Services 

with children and young people with Special Educational Needs or Disabilities (SEND) 

and the responses to parents and young carers. 

 

6. It should also be noted that the ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018’ 

guidance provides a framework for all the relevant legislation and sets out the 

importance of early identification and response to issues of concern, particularly for 

vulnerable groups. 

41 Agenda Item 9



 

 

 
7. Other relevant policies include: 

 

i) Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-2022; 

ii) Children and Family Services Departmental Plan 2020-2023; 

iii) Road to Excellence – Continuous Improvement Plan 2017-2020; 

iv) Voice & Influence Strategy 2020-2023; 

v) Children & Family Services – Commissioning Strategy 2016-2020; 

vi) Children & Family Services – Quality Assurance and Improvement Framework 

(QAIF) 

 
8. All the relevant legislation and policies outlined above will inform the proposed 

Defining Children’s Services programme which will help to develop and future proof 

Children and Family Services, ensuring that the right interventions are delivered at the 

right time and in the right way, improving outcomes for children, young people and 

families while ensuring that the service is financially sustainable. This programme will 

support the service’s continuous improvement plan - The Road to Excellence. 

 

9. At its meeting on 20 November 2020, the Cabinet approved the request to continue to 

work with the Strategic Partner, Newton Europe, to deliver the next phase of the 

Defining Children and Family Services Programme.  

 

Background 
 
10. The Children and Family Services Department faces significant challenges due to 

increasing demand on its services over the last five years and projected over the next 

four years. This increase in demands is reflected in the growth approved within the 

Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) by the County Council on 7 February 2020. 

In addition to this the Covid-19 pandemic has placed additional financial pressure on 

the department, both in terms of staffing costs and the costs of services for children. 

The long-term impact of Covid-19 on children and families and therefore the potential 

increase in demand upon services is still not fully understood.  

   

11. The County Council, following a competitive process, commissioned an independent 

specialist consultancy, Newton Europe, in February 2020 to work alongside the 

service to undertake a diagnostic assessment of front-line services and to 

consequently work with the Department to lead on the delivery of an overall change 

programme. This was subject to a satisfactory outcome from the diagnostic 

assessment, an independent review (the gateway review) and approval to proceed 

from the Cabinet.  

 

12. The commissioning process attracted two bidders, with Newton Europe being 

successful due to their commitment to improving outcomes for children and their clear 

evidenced based and rigorous performance led approach, which included developing 

joint ownership and embedding culture change within the department. Of note was 

their contingent fee model, proposing that they would guarantee to deliver savings, 

with fees being commensurate to benefits delivered. 

42



 

 

 

13. The diagnostic assessment involved working with a cross section of staff within the 

service to complete a deep dive review of a number of children’s cases to consider if 

anything different could have been done to prevent the child escalating to a higher 

level of need and intervention. The main objective of the diagnostic assessment was 

to identify opportunities to improve outcomes for children and young people. The 

diagnostic assessment explored activity modelling, financial analysis, and 

benchmarking against other local authorities across services for children and families, 

by engaging with frontline staff and partner agencies to explore areas for 

improvement. 129 staff were involved in case review workshops, 181 cases were 

reviewed, 50 data tables were joined across four systems with 10 million data lines 

analysed. 

 

14. The diagnostic assessment was subject to validation by the Department and 

corporately through a series of engagements leading up to a formal review, the 

Gateway Review workshop. At this, senior officers from Children and Family Services 

assessed each of the opportunities in turn, looking at financial and operational 

confidence, required investment, delivery timescales, change complexity and 

organisational change capacity, alignment to the Department’s vision, impact for 

service users, wider County Council impact and impacts for external partners. 

 

15. The opportunities identified in the diagnostic will support the future proofing of 

Children and Family Services so that the right interventions are delivered in the right 

way, at the right time, to ensure that children, young people and families achieve the 

best possible outcomes whilst also ensuring that the service is financially sustainable 

going forwards. 

 

16. The development of the department will be achieved through the implementation of a 

holistic change programme focusing upon optimising practice, systems, culture, and 

operational delivery through the delivery of three areas of work alongside additional 

enabling work. 

 

17. The identified opportunities will ensure that the service maximises improvements that 

can be made in how the Department delivers its services to achieve the best 

outcomes for children. Further, the Department will be supported to achieve and 

sustain a high level of performance across all children’s pathways and settings. 

Finally, to provide expertise and knowledge transfer that could be applied to 

transformational work in other council departments or services. 

 

18. Broadly the opportunities are categorised into four main themes. These being 

Children’s Pathways (greater focus on earlier interventions and preventing the level of 

need escalating into higher tier interventions),Timeliness of interventions (ensuring 

that interventions are delivered in a timely way as part of a child/young person’s 

journey in order to meet needs at the right time and by the right team), Settings 

(ensuring that Children and Young People are placed in the most appropriate setting 

43



 

 

for their level of need) and  Children with Disabilities (ensuring that Children and 

Young People with Disabilities are supported to achieve greater levels of 

independence). 

19. It is important to highlight that the opportunities demonstrate a combination of potential 

benefits spanning cost/demand avoidance, enhancing quality and outcomes for 

service users, and improved productivity. The total net annually recurring benefits are 

estimated to be in the region of £9.3m, with a stretch ambition of £13.1m over the next 

four years. It is important to note that these opportunities will support the prevention of 

forecast demand and growth.  

20. A joint programme team with staff from across the Department, officers from the 

Transformation Unit and colleagues from Newton Europe will develop these themes 

and opportunities into the next phase of the programme. 

 

Diagnostic Assessment Findings 

21. The diagnostic assessment identified a number of opportunities for the continued 

development of the Children and Family Services Department including potentially 

fewer children escalating to Children in Need and Child Protection Services by 

reducing re-referral rates through a more targeted focus on meeting the identified 

needs of children earlier,  focussing on case management further to ensure cases are 

managed as effectively and as efficiently as possible, children in care achieving being 

placed in their long term placement sooner, growing capacity of internal foster carers 

and improved matching of children with carers and improving marketing sufficiency 

and more children with disabilities better equipped for adulthood. 

22. To support fewer children entering higher tiers of need within the service, the 

diagnostic assessment asked what could have been done to prevent children in the 

cases reviewed escalating to higher pathways. The findings suggested that, as a 

number of children currently supported at a higher level of intervention have been 

previously supported at a lower level of need, if some of these children could have 

been more intensely supported at a lower level it may have prevented their level of 

need escalating. Furthermore, national research supports that children’s outcomes are 

better if they are supported via early intervention and families can be engaged in 

making positive change. 

23. For the cases reviewed, whilst the current decisions and level of intervention were 

seen to be correct, it is believed that about a third of children in need cases that were 

reviewed could have been well supported and their needs addressed in the Children 

and Family Wellbeing Service or community based Early Help services,   potentially  

preventing escalation to Children’s Social care. A number of child protection cases 

that were reviewed could have been supported and needs addressed either through 

the Children and Family Wellbeing Service or Children in Need services if families had 

engaged in early intervention and for some children in care it was believed that if their 

families could have been engaged in early intervention or strong child in need support 

they, or the child’s wider family network, may have been able to make the sustained 

change to enable them to have cared for their children. 

44



 

 

24. The diagnostic assessment found that more intensive  support during previous periods 

of interventions could have prevented need in about half of the cases reviewed from 

escalating. It also suggested that a better understanding of the root cause of the 

issues presented could have also prevented escalation of need.  

For approximately half the cases reviewed domestic abuse was a root cause of issues 

presented by the family, for a quarter of the cases the root cause was adult mental 

health. The diagnostic also looked at transfer points between teams, and hours of 

support provided in escalating tiers of need, suggesting these are areas that could be 

strengthened. 

25. The diagnostic assessment found that there were opportunities to further reduce drift 

in case management. Whilst there was a clear downward trend in the length of time 

Child Protection cases were open, there were high fluctuations in the length of both 

Child Protection cases and Child in Need cases; this variation was analysed down to 

individual case worker levels. The average time a Looked After Child spent in care, at 

the point of leaving care, has increased over the last four years. 

26. The diagnostic assessment also explored whether a permanence option out of care 

was possible for the children reviewed, concluding that most children were in an 

optimum placement. The diagnostic assessment suggested that for a small number of 

children permanence could be achieved through reunifications or special guardianship 

orders, with this process being completed sooner than current averages. 

27. The diagnostic assessment identified that the proportion of internal to external foster 

carers was much lower than other local authorities. It suggested that there were 

improvement opportunities in the recruitment of in-house foster carers, reducing the 

fallout rate of potential foster carers between the enquiry and assessment stages. It 

also identified an opportunity to shorten the time taken from initial enquiry to approval 

to fall in line with best performing local authorities. The diagnostic assessment was 

complimentary of the Fostering webpages and recruitment material, which has led to 

the doubling of enquiries received since 2016/17. The diagnostic assessment found 

that the service was better than other local authorities in the training and retention 

offer. 

28. The diagnostic assessment found that there were opportunities to make full use of the 

foster families that have already been recruited. A review of the allocation of foster 

carers found that just over half of the current capacity had been used, suggesting 

improvements in data management to support improved matching rates.  

29. Finally, the diagnostic assessment identified that for some young people in residential 

placements a family-based placement had been searched for but there was not 

sufficient fostering capacity of the right type to meet the young person’s needs. For   

some older young people in residential placements their needs could be met by   

supported lodgings placements or foster carers with specific skills and experience if 

placement sufficiency can be improved.  

30. In reviewing cases within the Disabled Children’s Service, the diagnostic assessment 

identified that most children were on the right pathway for their needs. The diagnostic 

45



 

 

assessment suggested that some young people could have improved outcomes by 

them being enabled, at an earlier age, to gain the skills to support their transition to 

adulthood. 

 

31. The diagnostic assessment also found that spend on support for children with 

disabilities increased significantly in the years preceding adulthood. In more than half 

the cases reviewed for children with disabilities that were looked after, the diagnostic 

assessment suggested that earlier involvement would have changed the outcome. 

However, it is worth noting that the majority of disabled looked after children cases 

that could have been avoided were not known to the Children’s Social Care service 

beforehand.  

32. As part of the programme, Newton Europe will deliver 100 hours of support to Looked 

After Children of Leicestershire as part of the Council’s procurement process to 

embed Social Value through contracts. The Children in Care Council is being 

consulted on how best to use these hours. 

The Programme Approach 

33. The programme approach will focus on delivering improvements for children and 

young people through a focus on organisational levers. For each opportunity 

identified, the programme will assess Structure and Processes (understanding how 

service and team structures and operational processes impact  service users and can 

be optimised to improve outcomes), Systems (exploring how well data and the IT 

infrastructure is used to support the achievement of good outcomes for children and 

young people), Capability and Practice (identifying evidenced based improvements to 

core practice and capability of  staff and teams) and Culture and Behaviours 

(understanding how organisational and team culture impact the achievement of 

excellent outcomes for children and young people). 

34. The programme will be structured with three projects and underpinned by enabling 

strands. This work will build upon the progress made against the continuous 

improvement plan - The Road to Excellence. The three projects are: 

35. Pathways – The objectives of this project will be to address opportunities that prevent 

the escalation of need in lower tiers of service in the department, further reducing drift 

and providing growth and demand mitigations. This will be achieved through 

developing and embedding consistency in practice, reviewing case management and 

supervision processes, aligning practice of the Children and Family Wellbeing Service 

and Locality Social Work teams, and building a demand led establishment model.  

36. Placements – The objectives of this project will be to grow and make better use of 

internal foster carer capacity, developing alternatives to residential placements and 

growing the supported lodgings offer. This will be achieved through developing 

processes which improve the data, visibility and utilisation of internal foster carer 

capacity, recruiting more in-house foster carer capacity, a targeted review of all 

46



 

 

residential cases and finally through the strategic growth of alternatives to residential 

placements. 

 

 

37. Disabilities – The objectives of this project will be to develop an enablement focussed 

culture and practice to support earlier independence focussed transition planning for 

adulthood. This will be achieved through embedding enablement-based planning and 

practice, reviewing the most dependent children and families, and the earlier 

identification of children and families needing support for adulthood. 

38. Enabling strands – a data and systems strand will explore improvements needed in 

systems and management information to support new ways of working. A 

communications, culture and engagement strand will drive softer changes needed to 

embed new ways of working with staff and managers. 

39. The programme is underpinned by a number of principles, with the key  being  co-

ownership and co-design with front line staff and managers, a robust process for 

tracking and monitoring improvements and performance as new ways of working are 

developed and tested, and further principles include aiming for consistency around 

practice in the design and developing the right environment for continuous 

improvement. 

40. The Children and Family Services department has released a number of frontline 

staff and practitioners to form the design teams to work alongside colleagues from 

the Transformation Unit and Newton Europe. These design teams will oversee the 

development and testing of new ways of working. In line with the design principles 

stated previously, the design teams will be responsible for developing and testing. 

The programme will develop solutions which will focus on improving children and 

family outcomes, promoting resilience and progression. 

41. The programme will focus on designing solutions to address findings from the 

diagnostic assessment. A pilot area will be developed to test these changes, where 

the impact will be measured, and solutions continuously iterated to ensure maximum 

benefit for children and their families. It is anticipated this design stage will last 

between three to six months. 

42. Once robust solutions have been developed, these will be rolled out county wide, 

subject to a formal gateway review, with support from the design teams and advisory 

groups. This is the implement and sustain stage of the programme, lasting between 

six to twelve months. In this stage, the key aim is to ensure that the solutions 

developed are rolled out in a sustainable way, underpinned through robust 

measurement of key performance indicators, and quality assurance assessments. As 

the department grows in confidence, support from Newton Europe will reduce, and 

ways of working will continue to be monitored to ensure that they are sustained. It is 

expected that the programme will run to November 2021, by which point the 

department will be able to independently sustain the new ways of working. 

47



 

 

Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 
43. The delivery of Children and Family Services relies on close multi-agency partnership 

working in particular with the NHS, Schools, Police and external providers of 

placements. The proposed areas of work in this report will support the delivery of 

services to children, young people and families who may be also be supported by 

these external partners. There are well established links operationally between NHS 

partners, Schools and Police with respect to the safeguarding of children and young 

people. 

44. Partners will be engaged throughout the design and implementation phases as 

appropriate to ensure that the solutions developed are supported by the system as a 

whole and positively contribute to established operational links. 

45. The vision and operating model for Children and Family Services will be designed to 

deliver against the strategic outcomes of the County Council and support the overall 

health and care integration developments in Leicestershire, and across the Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland area as a whole. 

Conclusion 

46. This report outlines the programme and approach that will be taken in delivering 

Phase 2 of the Defining Children and Family Services for the Future Programme. The 

programme will build upon the progress of   the continuous improvement plan- The 

Road to Excellence and support the department to manage demand and prevent 

forecast growth in the region of £9.3m to £13.1m over the next four years.  

47. The programme is anticipated to run to November 2021 by which point the 

department will be able to independently sustain the new ways of working.  

Background papers   

48. Defining Children and Family Services for the Future – Report to the Children and 

Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 18 November 2020: 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/g6183/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednes

day%2018-Nov-

2020%2009.30%20Children%20and%20Families%20Overview%20and%20Scrutin

y%20Commi.pdf?T=10 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

49. None. 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 

50. Public authorities are required by law to have due regard to the need to:  

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation;  

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share protected 
characteristics and those who do not;  

48

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/g6183/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2018-Nov-2020%2009.30%20Children%20and%20Families%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Commi.pdf?T=10
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/g6183/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2018-Nov-2020%2009.30%20Children%20and%20Families%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Commi.pdf?T=10
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/g6183/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2018-Nov-2020%2009.30%20Children%20and%20Families%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Commi.pdf?T=10
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/g6183/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2018-Nov-2020%2009.30%20Children%20and%20Families%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Commi.pdf?T=10


 

 

 Foster good relations between people who share protected characteristics and 
those who do not.  

51. Equality and Human rights implications will be considered fully in the next phase of the 
programme and any implications will be fully assessed in respect of potential impact of 
any proposals and the timing of any proposed changes.  

52. Specific proposals will be subject to robust engagement with service users and other 
people affected, and Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments as necessary.  

 

Other Relevant Impact Assessments 

 

53. None. 

Officers to Contact 

Jane Moore, Director, Children and Family Services 

Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk 

Tel: 0116 305 2649 

 

 

 

49

mailto:Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 
 
 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE   
 

19th January 2021 
 

SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES (SEND) 
UPDATE; INCLUDING WRITTEN STATEMENT OF ACTION, HIGH 

NEEDS BLOCK DEVELOPMENT AND SEND COMPLAINTS 
 

REPORT OF THE  
DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with a progress update on 

work taking place across the SEND Local Area in response to the national, 
regional and local increase in demand for Education, Health and Care Plan 
(EHC Plan) Needs Assessments and the Leicestershire Local Area SEND 
Inspection (CQC and Ofsted), which took place in February 2020.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The primary legislation regarding children and young people with SEND is the 

Children and Families Act 2014, supported by the SEND Code of Practice (CoP) 
(January 2015). These set out the duties placed upon Local Authorities, Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and expectations placed upon other agencies. 

 
3. The revised SEND Code of Practice extended the age range of children and 

young people (CYP) who may be eligible for support through an EHC plan up to 
25 years, introduced tighter timescales for the completion of statutory EHC 
Needs Assessments and set out clearer expectations upon Health and Social 
Care.   

 
4. The SEND CoP recognises that the majority of children with special educational 

needs can (and should) have those needs supported in a mainstream setting 
(pre-school, school or FE College) at the ‘SEN Support’ stage of the CoP without 
the need for an EHC plan.  This is important in terms of supporting children 
early, in inclusive local settings and also with regards to the strategic necessity 
to manage resources effectively, without the need for statutory processes.  The 
service is committed to developing and supporting a local framework where the 
culture of all mainstream schools and providers is inclusive and staff are well 
equipped and supported to meet the learning needs of the vast majority of 
children.  At the same time, the important role that special schools play in 
supporting children with the most complex and significant needs is recognised. 

 
 
 

51 Agenda Item 10



2 

 

 
5. In December 2018, the Cabinet authorised a consultation on the High Needs 

Block Development Plan, including the proposed development of enhanced and 
expanded SEND provision across the County.  Progress has been regularly 
reported to the Cabinet and the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

   
6. On 21st January 2020, the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee considered a report that provided an overview of the Ofsted SEND 
Inspection Framework.  This was followed by a report in September 2020 on the 
outcome of the Local Area Inspection, which had directed that a Written 
Statement of Action (WSOA) be developed by the Local Authority and its 
partners.  At that time views were sought from the Committee on the Written 
Statement of Action, which was co-produced with the Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG), parents, carers, children and young people and other 
stakeholders.  

 
Background 
 
SEND and Inclusion Board 
   
7. In Leicestershire the SEND and Inclusion Board brings partners together to 

ensure a joined-up approach between parents and carers (represented by the 
Parent Carer Forum), health, education and social care.  

 
Our vision in Leicestershire for children with special educational needs and 
disabilities is the same as for all children and young people – for them to 
achieve well in their education, to be cared for in safe and supportive families, 
participate and be involved in their communities and lead happy, safe and 
fulfilled lives. 

  
Vision taken from the SEND and Inclusion Strategy 2020 to 2023 

 
Local and National Trends in SEND  
  
8. The latest School Census (Spring 2020), identifies that there were 105,436 

pupils on roll at a maintained school within Leicestershire (aged 3 to 18 years).  
Of these, there are 10,439 pupils on a SEN Support plan (SEN Support stage of 
the CoP) and a further 3,289 children with an EHC plan.  Pupils with SEND 
account for 13.9% of the Leicestershire school population.    

 
9. The graph below illustrates that there was a rise in SEN Support greater than 

EHC plans until 2017/18 from which time the number of EHC plans have been 
increasing.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

52



3 

 

 
 

 
10. The data confirms that demand for EHC Plans has grown significantly.  This 

follows the regional and national trend. The Department for Education (DfE) data 
collection for all Leicestershire EHC plans known as SEN2 (January 2020) 
identifies that the rate of growth has increased from 2015/16 following the 
implementation of the SEND reforms. The following graph shows the number of 
Children and Young People with EHC plans (known as Statements of Special 
Educational Needs prior to the SEND reform). 

 

 
 
11. The same general pattern of growth is seen in the national and regional data.  

However, Leicestershire has seen a higher increase than the national and 
region. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Leicestershire School Census data over time for SEN Suport 
and Statement of SEN/EHCP 

EHC plans/Statements of SEN (percent) SEN support (percent)

53



4 

 

 
 
The Local Area Inspection February 2020 – Written Statement of Action (WSOA) 
 
12. The Local Area SEND inspection determined that a WSOA should be produced, to 

focus upon two key areas for action: 

a) The absence of a clearly defined joint commissioning strategy for 

0–25 SEND provision. 

b) Systemic weaknesses in the quality of EHC plans, including: the 
drawing up of EHC plans; the inaccuracy with which the plans reflect 
children and young people’s needs; the absence of good-quality 
outcomes in EHC plans; the inconsistency with which plans include 
contributions from education and particularly health and care 
professionals; the lack of any formal quality assurance framework to 
improve new and existing plans. 

 
13. Leicestershire’s Written Statement of Action was submitted to Ofsted in October 

2020 and approved as ‘fit for purpose’ without the requirement for additional 
information or amendment.  The Plan will be continually updated with progress 
against the actions and monitored every two months by the DfE Regional 
Advisor who, following each of these review sessions, will provide a report to the 
Minister for Education.  This monitoring will take place for the period of 
approximately 18 months until the time of the next inspection. To date, feedback 
from the Regional DfE Advisor has been positive, commenting that it is clear that 
the WSOA has been well developed in close collaboration with parents, carers 
and all partner agencies. 

 
14. The first of the formal monitoring meetings will take place on 21 January 2021.  

Between each of the formal meetings with the DfE, those colleagues leading 
each of the two priority areas will meet with the colleagues responsible for the 
actions to provide progress updates and to discuss any issues or risks. 

 
Engagement with the local Parent Carer Forum (PCF) and other parent groups 
 
15. Throughout this calendar year the engagement and relationship between the 

Local Authority, Health Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and the Parent 
Carer Forum (PCF) has developed and matured, facilitated by the requirement to 
co-produce the Written Statement of Action and also the need to work in close 

54



5 

 

partnership to respond to the Coronavirus pandemic to provide the best possible 
support for Children and Young People with SEND throughout this challenging 
period. 

 
16. Additionally, regular engagement of the Local Area partnerships has been 

established throughout 2020 through the medium of virtual meetings, regular 
written communications and verbal updates.  This has led to a strengthening of 
relationships between partners, including schools and settings.   Parents and 
carers have also been involved in the co-production of revised processes to 
deliver the Special Educational Needs Assessment service, as well as the 
development of strategy and policy across the SEND agenda and this will be 
built upon moving into the future.  

 
The High Needs Board (HNB) Development Plan 
  
17. The High Needs Board Development Plan has been developed by the County 

Council to respond to an overspend on the High Needs Block Dedicated School 
Grant (DSG) and to ensure that all necessary actions are taken to address the 
financial position whilst ensuring that available funding for SEND is used in the 
most effective way to meet statutory responsibilities and support children and 
young people to achieve the outcomes identified in their SEN Support Plan or 
EHC Plan.  

 
18. Expenditure has been above the DSG allocation for a number of years and this 

position is expected to remain for the medium term.  Placement costs for pupils 
with SEN account for 90% of all DSG expenditure. Placements are made in 
mainstream schools, enhanced provisions within mainstream schools, 
maintained special schools, academies or Independent Special Schools. The 
growing deficit on the High Needs Block DSG is a significant financial pressure 
for the local authority and is expected to total £29.2m in March 2025. The profile 
of expenditure against grant is set out in the following chart: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

55



6 

 

 
The Strategic Response to manage these pressures: 
 
19. To address the growing deficit, the HNB Development Plan includes a Strategic 

focus upon:  
 

a) Helping children to achieve in schools at the SEN Support stage  
b) Whole-system review of EHC plan processes, decision making, IT Systems 

and SENA Service Structure, as well as  
c) A £30m capital investment in specialist resourced provisions within 

Leicestershire and Special School capacity.   
 
Helping children to achieve in schools at the SEN Support stage: 
 
20. As previously mentioned, there are 10,439 pupils on a SEN Support plan (SEN 

Support stage of the SEND Code of Practice) compared to only 3,289 children 
with an EHC plan.  This illustrates the strategic importance of supporting children 
well from the earliest stages and in making sure that staff in schools and other 
settings are confident and have the skills to support children with a diverse range 
of learning needs.  

 
21. The Local Authority supports schools and other settings in a number of ways, 

including through access to support services such as Early Years’ Service, 
Specialist Teaching Service, Inclusion Service and the Educational Psychology 
Service. These Services provide a range of free and ‘traded’ support and 
training. 

 
22. All schools and academies are responsible for ensuring that they have robust 

arrangements in place to support SEND.  The LA works closely with 
Headteachers, Send Coordinators and school governing bodies to support best 
practice.  In addition, over the last 12 months the following have been 
developed: 

 
23. The Leicestershire SEN Support Handbook launched in November 2020 and 

was downloaded 193 times; this is very positive and demonstrates that the 
handbook is an extremely valuable tool.  It is underpinned by the SEND Code of 
Practice (2015), setting out how pre-school settings, schools and Post 16 
providers can support most children with special educational needs through the 
effective use of their delegated funding, well trained staff and partnership 
working.   

 

24. The Handbook brings together national and local information in one place and 
links to other useful information.  It contains local information and guidance for 
schools/education providers, parents/carers and other interested parties about 
the support that is available to Leicestershire children and young people who 
have SEN or a Disability. 

25. The Handbook includes important guidance for education providers on 
expectations about the use of Best Endeavours and Reasonable Adjustments to 
meet children’s special needs and to support any disabilities.  There are also 
links to useful information, legislation and an overview of school SEND funding.  

 
 
 
 
 

56



7 

 

 

26. Inclusion Forums have been established in each Locality across Leicestershire.  
These offer an opportunity for schools to discuss questions about how to support 
children with particular needs and to gain advice from a range of other 
professionals such as educational psychologists, health and Child and Family 
Wellbeing Service.  These forums are useful to help people to re-frame their 
thinking and consider whether the child’s needs have been fully identified and 
understood so that the right support can be put in place.    It is often not just a 
case of ‘more support’ so much as how support is used. 

 
27. Two SEND Inclusion Workers have been appointed within the Inclusion Service 

to specifically follow up requests for EHC plan Needs assessment during the 
initial six-week period.  This has enabled conversations to take place between 
parents, schools and other agencies to better understand the reason for the 
request for EHC plan Needs Assessment.  This has helped to take a more child-
centred approach by ensuring that the right conversations are taking place with 
the right people to put a supportive plan together. 

 
 
Whole-System review of EHC Plan processes, decision making, IT Systems 

and SENA Structure:   
 
28. The following aspects have been reviewed and developed over the past 12 

months with regards to support for those children who do require an EHC plan:  
 
29. Annual Reviews of EHC plans take place within the school on at least a yearly 

basis, with schools inviting parent/carers and professionals to assess progress 
made against the outcomes.  With rising numbers of EHC plans it has been 
recognised that timely consideration of amendments following an Annual Review 
is a priority to ensure that children receive any necessary changes to the support 
they need. The HNB Development Plan has included the need for extra capacity 
to enable an increase in SENA attendance at key Annual Reviews (such as 
transitions) and for the completion of amendments to plans as set out in the 
SEND Code of Practice. 

 
30. An HR Action Plan was launched on 11 December 2020, proposing changes to 

the SEN Assessment Service team structure.  The aim of the action plan is to 
ensure that the new SENA structure has the right combination of management 
oversight, casework capacity, together with senior casework input to support 
complex cases and Tribunal processes.  Caseworkers will benefit from more 
regular supervision and clear case direction, together with updated guidance to 
promote consistent decision making.  There will also be dedicated capacity to 
oversee performance management and commissioning functions, as well as a 
new role of ‘Designated Social Care Officer (0.5 fte).   The developments have 
been undertaken in consultation with trade unions and professional associations 
and are broadly ‘cost neutral’.  It is anticipated that the new structure will be in 
place from April 2021. 

 
31. Substantial work has been undertaken between SENA, Schools, Parent Carer 

Forum and other interested parties, to update EHC plan formats and 
documentation used within the needs assessment.  This will help to ensure that 
the correct information is submitted to enable EHC plans to truly reflect the child: 
their strengths and their needs, including health, social care and other aspects of 
support. 

 

57



8 

 

 
32. ‘Element 3’ of High Needs Block Funding is used to support children with SEND 

where they need additional support beyond what the school or setting can 
provide through their own delegated resources (elements 1 and 2 – an 
introduction to high needs funding can be found in the SEN Support Handbook 
referenced above).  This includes children without an EHC plan (particularly 
where needs may not be long term) and those with EHC plans in mainstream 
and special schools.  Work is now well underway to review and put in place an 
updated process for how to support children in mainstream schools.  The aim is 
to enable children to be supported without an EHC plan where appropriate, but 
also for those children with an EHC plan to link funding to the outcomes 
identified in the EHC plan, providing schools with a level of flexibility to use the 
funding in a way that best reflects the needs of the child in the context of their 
classroom and learning. 

 
33. The service has been working with FE Colleges to develop opportunities for a 

more individualised learning experience for young people with SEND.  Often, in 
addition to the desire to undertake a particular FE course, young people also 
need complementary skills, such as travel training, independence and self-care.  
Work has been done to ensure that EHC plans are amended to reflect these 
needs, with timely discussions with FE Colleges and the young person, so that 
outcomes can be agreed, and funding put in place against the particular package 
of support.  

 
34. The Local Authority has commissioned a new on-line system called ‘Synergy’, 

which will provide an on-line portal to enable families and schools to securely log 
in and access real-time information about a child or young person.  It is 
estimated that up to 40% of officer time on the telephone can be taken up 
answering queries about progress through the EHC plan needs assessment, or 
the processing of Annual Reviews.  From April 2021 onwards, this time will be 
freed up to enable a greater focus upon casework 

 
35. A robust quality assurance framework has been developed, agreed and 

implemented which incorporates the monitoring of the quality of EHC plans on a 
two-monthly cycle with the second cycle underway.  The progress of the quality 
of plans will be recorded as lessons are learned through the process.  

 
36. Plans are initially audited following a discussion with the plan-writer and then 

audited by external partners (school representatives and parents/carers).  Prior 
to the audit of any plan they are redacted (anonymised) to protect the identity of 
the child or young person.  Following each moderation panel, recommendations 
are made for improvement of the plans where required, to be taken forward at 
the subsequent annual review. 

 
 
£30m capital investment in specialist resourced provisions within 

Leicestershire 
 
37. With regards to the comparatively small number of children whose SEND needs 

cannot be met within a mainstream school environment, the Service has 
embarked on a significant programme of capital investment, designed to ensure 
that children have access to sufficient local high quality cost effective specialist 
placements. 

 

58



9 

 

 
38. This is a significant commitment of £30 million capital investment over a three-

year period, and currently encompasses 34 projects (of which all but four have 
now been delivered).  The programme incorporates the development of 534 
additional school places of which 459 are available from the autumn term 2020.  
Positive feedback has been received in respect of the new projects and 
particularly so for Foxfields Academy (Social Emotional and Mental Health), 
Fusion Academy (Communication and Interaction) and Oakfield Short Stay 
School. 

 
 
Customer satisfaction, complaints and remedies  
  
39. As of November 2020, local figures show that Leicestershire maintains a total of 

5,244 EHC plans (this is 0-25 years age range rather than school age and also 
relates to EHC plans maintained by LCC, rather than children attending LCC 
schools and so is a different figure to the one given earlier).  The Special 
Educational Needs and Assessment Service (SENA) administers the EHC plan 
statutory assessment process.  The service receives any complaints on issues 
that have occurred during the statutory assessment process and on-going 
oversight and annual review processes.   

 
40. From the 5244 EHC plans maintained, between 24 November 2017 and 15 July 

2020 164 complaints from parents and carers were made to the SENA service, 
(including MP/Councillor enquiries, as a formal complaint to the Corporate 
complaints and to the Local Government Ombudsman for Local Government and 
Social Care).  Over this period, of the 164 complaints made, 28 became multiple 
complaints over a period of time, accounting for 44.7% of the complaint total.  A 
couple of multiple complaints were made through the MP and Formal Complaint 
route before going on to the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) for 
resolution.  

 
41. Over the same period, eight complaints were taken up by the Local Government 

Ombudsman on behalf of the parents.   The LGO upheld seven out of the eight 
parental complaints on the service.  The majority of the upheld complaints also 
resulted in financial recompense to the family.  Therefore, there is learning to 
take from the LGO decisions.  A key area is the provision of education when a 
pupil is unable to attend school.  The development of the Inclusion Service 
provides a link between the work of the SENA service and providing direct work. 

 
42. Another key area that has been highlighted through the LGO process is 

provision included within the EHC plan that is not being accessed.  It is the 
responsibility of the local authority to ensure that provision written within an EHC 
plan is in place and being delivered.  For Leicestershire, these have been around 
the provision of Occupational Therapy and sensory assessments where there 
has needed to be specific commissioned therapy and assessments sought, as 
these are not available through the NHS.  A review on processes within the 
SENA service is taking place.       

     
43. Parental expectations can have a significant impact on the type of placement 

specified within the EHC plan. Parents have the right to express a preference for 
the school they wish their child to attend.  

 
 

59



10 

 

 
44. Where parents do not agree with the local authority on the content of an EHC 

plan, including the recommended school, there is a right of appeal to an 
independent tribunal but there is a requirement to enter into a mediation process 
as the first stage. Since the introduction of SEND reforms the number of tribunal 
and mediations has increased as shown in the following table. This has an 
impact upon officer capacity but also in relation to the placement and therefore 
placement cost. 

   

 
 
Conclusion 
  
45. In July 2019 the House of Commons Education Committee reported that funding 

for SEND was ‘completely inadequate’ with local authorities facing a funding 
shortfall in excess of £1.0bn by 2021. 

 
46. The County Councils’ Network reports for the period 2016 -2019 that the national 

high needs overspend has increased by 83% and that 28 of 33 authorities 
responding to their survey expected a high needs deficit in 2020/21. 

 
47. The national financial picture is worsening, and research shows that the gap 

between High Needs Designated Schools Grant (DSG) and expenditure is 
growing. 

 
48. In a report commissioned by the Local Government Association, the Isos 

Partnership estimated a total national deficit on DSG to be £470m for 2018/19. 
 
49. In October 2019 the House of Commons Education Committee contended that 

the DfE set local authorities up to fail by making serious errors in the way it 
administered funding for SEND reform and failing to provide extra money when it 
was needed. 

 
50. The research is consistent in its view that there is no single reason for the 

problem and reports high needs deficits as a system wide problem rather than a 
pure financial issue. 

 
51. In Leicestershire the scale of the challenge is recognised but the service 

continues to be committed to the vision to enable all learners to receive the 
support they need.  To do this the service is focussing on a partnership approach 
aimed at identifying and meeting need early. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2014/20152015/20162016/20172017/20182018/20192019/20202020/2021

Tribunals and Mediations 

Tribunals

Tribunals 3 year
average
Mediations

60



11 

 

 
52. The SEND and Inclusion Strategy has been refreshed, taking into consideration 

the financial position, the needs of children and young people with SEND and 
the voice of parent/carers and children/young people.  The five priority areas 
focus on three key layers of support: 

1. Early help and supporting schools, pre-school and post 16 to be as effective 
as they can be regarding SEN Support 

2. Improved processes for EHC plan needs assessment and joint commissioning 
to support children with an EHC plan in mainstream 

3. Investment in local specialist provision 
 
53. These are underpinned by: 

i. A strong Local Offer (praised by inspection)  
ii. Investment in technology (Synergy and tools for staff to work flexibly) 
iii. Focus on transitions (for example primary to secondary, to post 16 and 

from Children’s to Adult services) 
iv. Outcome focussed plans that have the child’s voice at the centre and 

funding to deliver the outcomes 
v. A highly skilled workforce 
vi. A Joint Commissioning Strategy 

 
54. As is clear from the information provided within this report, the local authority, 

CCG, Parents, carers as well as children and young people have worked 
tirelessly in co-production to improve services and provision for those with SEND 
in Leicestershire. 

 
55. With the ever-increasing demand for EHC plans, SEN support in schools and 

wider services, such as Short Breaks, the need to continually reassess the local 
offer is clear. 

 
56. The local authority now has a stable workforce to deliver its statutory duties 

around SEND and the CCG is also working hard to ensure an appropriate 
allocation of officers both in the commissioning and delivery of services. 

 
57. The local authority is confident that the journey of improvement is well-

established, and this will result in greater service user confidence and 
satisfaction.   

 
Background Papers  
 
Cabinet 22nd October 2019, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities – latest 

funding position (High Needs Block) and development of new provisions  

http://cexmodgov1/documents/s148882/SEND%20Funding%20HNB%20and%20New%20Provision%
20final.pdf 

 
Cabinet 22nd November 2019, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities – 

proposed transfer of funding within Designated Schools Grant 

http://cexmodgov1/documents/s149602/SEND%20Cabinet%20report%20FINAL.pdf 

 
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee 1st September 2020, SEND 

Inspection and High Needs Development Plan update 

http://cexmodgov1/documents/s155020/SEND%20Inspection%20and%20High%20Needs%20Develo
pment%20Plan%20Overview%20-%20CFS%20OSC%20-%2001.09.2020.pdf 

61

http://cexmodgov1/documents/s148882/SEND%20Funding%20HNB%20and%20New%20Provision%20final.pdf
http://cexmodgov1/documents/s148882/SEND%20Funding%20HNB%20and%20New%20Provision%20final.pdf
http://cexmodgov1/documents/s149602/SEND%20Cabinet%20report%20FINAL.pdf
http://cexmodgov1/documents/s155020/SEND%20Inspection%20and%20High%20Needs%20Development%20Plan%20Overview%20-%20CFS%20OSC%20-%2001.09.2020.pdf
http://cexmodgov1/documents/s155020/SEND%20Inspection%20and%20High%20Needs%20Development%20Plan%20Overview%20-%20CFS%20OSC%20-%2001.09.2020.pdf


12 

 

 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2020/10/27/Leicestershire-Local-Area-

SEND-Written-Statement-of-Action.pdf 

 

Cabinet 18th September 2020, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 

and Inclusion Strategy 2020 to 2023 

http://cexmodgov1/documents/s155475/SEND%20and%20Inclusion%20Strategy%20FINAL.pdf 

 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
58. None. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Paula Sumner, Assistant Director, Education and SEND 
Tel: 0116 305 0546 
Email: Paula.Sumner@leics.gov.uk   
 
Tom Common, Head of SEND  
Tel: 0116 305 7813 
Email: Tom.Common@leics.gov.uk   
 
 
Equalities and Hunan Rights Implications  
 
59. An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Screening Tool was 

completed for the SEND and Inclusion Strategy.  The work on the actions for the 
strategy will consider Equality and Human Right issues. 

 
 
Partnership working 
 
60. The County Council’s relationships with partner organisations and 

Leicestershire’s Parent Carer Forum will be critical in the delivery of a whole 
SEND system, including the commitment to listen and develop an approach 
which is based on service user experiences. 

 
 
 

62

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2020/10/27/Leicestershire-Local-Area-SEND-Written-Statement-of-Action.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2020/10/27/Leicestershire-Local-Area-SEND-Written-Statement-of-Action.pdf
http://cexmodgov1/documents/s155475/SEND%20and%20Inclusion%20Strategy%20FINAL.pdf
mailto:Paula.Sumner@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Tom.Common@leics.gov.uk


   
 

   
 

 
 
 

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

19TH JANUARY 2021 
 

COVID-19 RECOVERY UPDATE 
 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMLY SERVICES 
 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with a detailed update on 

the work of the Children and Family Services Department over the Covid-19 

pandemic. 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

2. Leicestershire County Council’s (LCC) Covid-19 Recovery Strategy (2020-21) 

sets out the key principles, governance structures and phases upon which 

recovery of the Council’s functions and services will be based. This will help 

ensure a joined-up, consistent and well-informed approach throughout the 

recovery process, with key principles and approaches reflected, which will 

culminate in a transition to Departmental Service and Business Planning, 

utilising supplementary mechanisms to complement pre-existing governance 

and decision-making protocols of the Council. 

 
Service Delivery During the Pandemic and Service Recovery 
 

3. During Covid-19 most services within Children and Families continued to 

operate and deliver work with families and communities albeit in a different 

format.  

 
Targeted Early Help and Children’s Social Care 
 

4. At the beginning of the first lockdown period, revised guidance was developed 

across Targeted Early Help and Children’s Social Care to support staff in 

prioritising and adapting how services were delivered to respond to the Covid-

19 outbreak. The guidance included a risk assessment for each child which 

informed the risk management plan including the frequency and type of visiting 

that is in place during the Covid-19 emergency.  

 

 

63 Agenda Item 11



   
 

   
 

 
5. Over the course of the pandemic the Covid-19 risk assessments have continued 

to inform the frequency and type of contact with children.  All children are 

subject to an initial Covid-19 assessment at the point of referral and a formal 

assessment is now built into the workflow for children once assessments are 

completed and intervention from Children’s Social Care continues. These 

assessments are reviewed and updated at set intervals or at a significant 

change in circumstances.  Performance reports are now in place to provide 

oversight to the Covid-19 risk assessment process and the visit types that are in 

place.  These are subject to scrutiny in monthly performance meetings led by 

the Assistant Director. This risk assessment has been reviewed in light of each 

national lockdown to ensure visits can continue to take place to those children 

that require it. 

 

6. Services to the most vulnerable children are continuing, social workers and 

children and family wellbeing workers are working directly with children either in 

their homes, where needed, or via electronic methods (Skype and WhatsApp 

video calling).  

 
7. As flexible working arrangements have become established and staff have 

become confident in using Personal Protective Equipment there have been 

increases in the number of face-to-face contacts with children.  For some 

children judged to be most vulnerable and, for example, where child protection 

investigations are being undertaken, face to face contact has been maintained 

throughout the pandemic.   Reports provide managers with oversight of all visits 

by type and frequency and careful monitoring reports are shared with the 

Department of Education fortnightly.  Since May 2020 when reporting began 

consistently more than 75% of visits to children on Child protection plans have 

been face to face. 

    
8. Contact arrangements from children in care were initially moved to virtual 

arrangements but since July have started to be safely managed in local children 

centres subject to strict safety arrangements.  

 
9. Whilst most staff continue to work from home some teams, where necessary, 

are continuing to use office space safely, subject to social distancing 

arrangements. Regular keeping in touch and support via contact in supervision 

and team meetings are in place to prevent isolation of staff members.  

   
10. The front door to Targeted Early Help and Children’s Social Care has continued 

to operate, ensuring safeguarding concerns have been dealt with in a timely 

manner.  Additional capacity has been put into the Service in order to ensure 

incoming referrals are dealt with in a timely manner to meet children’s needs.  

 

11. At the beginning of the pandemic in March a reduction in contacts was noted at 

the front door – most significantly requests for Targeted Early Help saw a fall 

64



   
 

   
 

and it is likely that this was connected to the number of children absent from 

school.   

 

12. However referrals to children social care, whilst reduced compared to 2019 

averages, did continue to see a number of complex cases being reported and 

responded to and the number of Strategy discussions and child protection 

enquiries during Q1 and Q2 (April – September 2020) were significantly higher 

than 2019 averages. This resulted in an additional 164 children becoming 

subject to child protection plans during that period.  Domestic abuse was a 

feature of many of those cases.  

 

13.  Increases in demand in September 2020, when schools re-opened, were less 

than expected and the number of contacts and referrals returned to levels 

similar to 2019 levels. Requests for Targeted Early Help have increased back to 

expected levels. 

 

2020/21 Quarters1 & 2 
 2019 2020 +/- 

Contacts 11312 11015 -3% 

Referrals 2958 2514 -15% 

Assessments 2577 2321 -10% 

Strategy Discussions 1038 1269 +22% 

Section 47 762 1010 +33% 

Initial Child Protection 
Conferences 410 483 +18% 

Child Protection Plan Starts 358 442 +23%  

 
 

14. Virtual group work programmes have been delivered and will continue to be 

delivered to young people and to parents and carers as part of parenting 

support programmes. 

 

15. Foster Carer recruitment has continued over the last nine months, albeit in a 

virtual capacity through online events rather than at County Hall. From April to 

November there have been 443 enquiries in comparison to 336 for 2019/20 for 

the same timeframe. This has resulted in the approval of seven mainstream 

fostering households to date with two Independent Fostering Agency transfers, 

two transfers from other local authorities.  

 

16. Adoption Panels are being successfully completed virtually. Consideration is 

being given to the use of Zoom/Microsoft Teams to ensure that applicants are 

able to participate in information evenings and Prospective Adopter training. 

Assessment visits to potential adopters are being completed virtually. Fourteen 

adopters have been approved from April to November, with 24 households in 

Stage one and a further 11 households in stage two of the assessment process. 

Eight children have been moved into their adoptive placements using Covid-19 

65



   
 

   
 

risk assessments to support introductions. These risk assessments are signed 

off by the Assistant Director. 

 

Education and SEND 
 

17. On 4th January 2021, the government announced a further national lockdown 

and the move to remote learning for all children and young people, apart from 

children of critical workers and those children who are vulnerable. During the 

first week of the January lockdown schools worked quickly to set up remote 

learning and the provision for children that need to be in school. 

 

18. Over the course of the pandemic the Education Effectiveness Team has worked 

closely with Public Health to address a range of queries around changing 

guidance for schools and action needed to be taken following a positive case in 

school, over the Autumn term. Schools have made major adaptations to adjust 

to a new normal and deliver meaningful education for children both in school 

over the Autumn term and remotely over the course of the national lockdowns.  

 
19. The Education Effectiveness Team has worked with schools throughout the 

pandemic to provide advice, guidance and support around the continued 

provision of education throughout lockdown and in opening schools back up to 

groups of children prior to the summer holidays. As well as a twice-weekly 

bulletin to schools there has been significant uptake on the emergency Out of 

Hours line. Virtual training has also taken place for school staff and governors. 

Leicestershire Education Excellence Partnership has co-ordinated support for 

schools including areas such as remote learning, catch up funding and recovery 

curriculum. 

 

20. At 18th December 2020, 1,575 positive Covid-19 cases had been reported in 

Leicestershire schools during the Autumn term 2020 in 252 out of 317 schools. 

Cases peaked in mid-November and have reduced, especially in secondary 

schools. A small number of schools have experienced a significant number of 

cases, which usually appear to be in locations where community transmission is 

high.  

 
21. The Admissions Service has continued to process school applications and 

school appeals have been heard remotely. In line with Department of Education 
guidance, the service resumed non-attendance processes and the issue of 
penalty notices where appropriate at the start of September. The approach 
continues to be to work with schools and families to ensure good attendance 
resumes as early as possible, and to seek to make a distinction between those 
parents/families that may be anxious about their child attending school given the 
current Covid-19 position, and those persistent non-attenders known to the 
Admissions Service prior to the restrictions imposed in the spring.  

 

22. Since the re-introduction of measures there has been a reduction in the number 
of penalty notices for poor attendance (with only one case presently under 

66



   
 

   
 

consideration) and no court proceedings have been implemented. Schools and 
families are able to access advice for students who are clinically extremely 
vulnerable (CEV) and on supporting students who have family members who 
are CEV to re-engage in school through the inclusion service.   

 

23. Many Early Years settings have remained open throughout the pandemic, 

particularly for vulnerable children and those children of key workers. The Early 

Years’ Service worked with childcare providers across Leicestershire to support 

the full re-opening of Early Years settings in the Autumn Term. All pre-schools 

and day nurseries reopened in September 2020, although some childminders 

chose not to reopen. During the Autumn term, whilst more children returned to 

their childcare provider (9,222), there are 10% fewer funded hours being 

accessed and 20% fewer two year olds accessing their free entitlement. Early 

years providers are able to remain open for all early years’ children during the 

national lockdown.  

 

24. Early Years and Childcare advisers have remained in contact with providers 

who have remained open throughout the pandemic or who re-opened in 

September to offer support and guidance. Training for the Early Years sector is 

being delivered online and work has taken place across the last few months to 

ensure further training can now be offered online rather than through face to 

face training groups.  The Early Years Area Special Educational Needs advice 

has been delivered remotely, rather than in settings, to ensure Early Years 

Children with Special Educational Needs remain supported. Early Years 

Advisors have also been offering support and advice on activities that can be 

done to support children at home. 

 
25. Although providers have been funded regardless of whether children attended 

or not during the first lockdown, those who remained open suffered a greater 

financial burden. More recently providers are faced with the challenges of 

maintaining high quality provision whilst having to close bubbles and self-isolate 

staff when necessary. Not all parents are confident to return to the early years 

provision or require the childcare provision that they once did as some have lost 

their jobs. Providers are having to adapt their provision and routines including 

inductions for new children as ‘show rounds’ to new parents have had to be 

halted or offered in a different way. 

 
26. Services across education and SEND continue to support families and schools 

on a risk-assessed basis, working, in the main, remotely, attending virtual 
meetings.  Where necessary staff are undertaking planned visits to schools or 
the child’s home.  All visits are by negotiation and with the appropriate 
protective measures. 

 
27. Remote contacts and risk assessed home visits with PPE have been 

undertaken to children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities. Children 
continue to have access to short breaks where this is assessed as part of their 
support package, including overnight short breaks where needed.  
Parents/carers who receive Direct Payments have been offered support and 

67



   
 

   
 

advice about continuity of support through the pandemic and social workers 
have maintained regular contact with families and schools and have been able 
to amend support to respond to changing needs. 

 
 

28. The SEN Assessment Service has continued to operate at close to full capacity 
during the pandemic and performance regarding Education and Health Care 
Plan (EHCP) Needs Assessment remained high.  Since October there has been 
a significant increase in the number of assessment requests, and this is likely to 
have some impact on overall timeliness of new Plans.    

 
29. The Local Authority has communicated with all schools on a very regular basis 

throughout the pandemic.  Schools are aware that the ‘easements’ by which 
‘reasonable endeavours’ to provide the support within a child’s EHCP have 
ended and that the duty to provide the support identified within the Plan once 
again applies.  Where schools have struggled to provide this (for example due 
to staffing or space) they have been asked to work with parents/carers and 
SENA, Specialist Teaching Service or Inclusion Services to resolve the issues.   

 
30. All annual reviews of EHCPs continue, with the majority being undertaken 

remotely.   This has meant that SEN Caseworkers have been able to attend 
more reviews than in the past, due to less time spent travelling.  Annual Review 
reports are being processed as usual and an increase in officer capacity means 
that these are being amended more quickly.  

 
31. Decision-making panels for EHCP assessments and issuing of plans have 

continued virtually and parents and carers have continued to be advised of the 
outcomes of these panels. 

 
32. Staff within the Specialist Teaching Service have continued to provide advice 

and support to children and schools during the pandemic. The majority of work 
has been undertaken remotely but since the start of the September term more 
visits to school are being made.  

 
33. The Educational Psychology Service (EPS) has continued to undertake 

statutory work during the pandemic period.  Individual child assessments as part 
of the EHCP Needs Assessment process have been undertaken using a variety 
of means.  Where necessary these assessments have been qualified with an 
acknowledgment that there has not been an opportunity for direct face to face 
work with a child.  The EPS has also worked closely with partners as identified 
by Leicestershire Education Excellence Partnership (LEEP) to produce a range 
of helpful information, for example, around mental health issues during Covid-19 
and tips about coping with stress and anxiety. The Education Effectiveness 
Team is co-ordinating the wellbeing response with Public Health, EPS and other 
partners to ensure that staff in all types of schools and centrally employed 
teachers are trained in responding to wellbeing needs and that the resources for 
mental health and wellbeing support are clearly signposted and available. There 
has been high engagement with this programme. 

 
 
Background Papers  

68



   
 

   
 

 
34. None 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

35. None. 

 
Officer to Contact 
 
Jane Moore, Director, Children and Family Services.  
Tel: 0116 305 2649 
E-mail:  Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk  
 
 
List of Appendices 
 

36. None 

 
Equalities and Hunan Rights Implications 
 

37. None 

69

mailto:Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 
 
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

19TH JANUARY 2021 
 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE ADOPTION SERVICE 2019-2020 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
 

 
Purpose of report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to present the Annual Report of the Adoption 
Service, which evaluates the extent to which Leicestershire County Council has 
fulfilled its responsibilities to these children for the period 1 April 2019 – 31 March 
2020.  
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

2. Leicestershire County Council is responsible for a Local Authority Adoption 
Agency.  It undertakes statutory and regulated responsibilities relating to 
adoption. The main role of the Adoption and Permanence Service is to provide 
high quality adoptive placements, a range of adoption and special guardianship 
support and other permanency options, including profiling for long term 
placements for children who are looked after by Leicestershire County Council 
and are unable to live with their birth families. 

 
3. Under the 2011 National Minimum Standards 25.6, all Adoption Agencies are 

required to provide one six month and one annual report to the Executive 
regarding the activity and work of the Adoption Agency and Adoption Panel . To 
meet this requirement the Adoption Service submits a monthly report to the Lead 
Member for Children and Families and the Director of Children and Family 
Services and an annual report to the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 

4. Adoption has been a key part of the Government Agenda since 2012 and has 
seen significant change. There continues to be a drive to increase the number  of 
children who are able to achieve early permanency via fostering to adopt. This is 
an implicit feature of the assessment and training programme to ensure that all 
adopters are fully informed of the risks and benefits of offering such placements. 
The service routinely ensures that adopters have the opportunity to hear from 
others who have offered this type of placement within their training. 

 
Background 

 
5. Leicestershire County Council had operated a joint Fostering, Adoption and 

Placements Service since April 2015. In July 2019  the two functions were 
separated so that there were dedicated Fostering and Adoption Services.  

71 Agenda Item 12



2 
 

 
6. Adoption and Permanence Services are provided to birth parents, prospective 

and approved adopters, children and adoptive parents who require adoption 
support services ,children and Special Guardians who require therapeutic 
support and advice where the child lives permanently in Leicestershire and 
adopted adults. 

 

7. In September 2019, Leicestershire`s Children and Family Service was 
inspected by Ofsted. Whilst the Adoption Service was not subject to its own 
inspection the feedback for the service was exceptional. The overall judgement 
for services for children in care, was Good.  
 

8. This report should be read  alongside the Care Placement Strategy and 
Permanence and Adoption Strategy 2017-2021.  These are dynamic strategies, 
geared towards supporting the recruitment of a diverse and confident mix of 
adoptive families, ensure enduring relationships and high-quality adoption 
support services. 

 
Key Areas of Success 
 

9. The Adoption Score card presents the performance data for Local Authorities 
over a three year and one year trend. The three main key performance 
indicators are: 

 
• A10 – Average time between a child entering care and moving in with its 

adoptive family  
• A2 - The average time between a local authority receiving the court judgement 

and deciding on a match to an adoptive family 
• A20 - The Average time between a child entering care and the Local Authority 

receiving court authority to place a child 
 

Against all three key performance indicators the three year trend data remains 
stable and either better or similar to statistical neighbours. A10 and A2   
improved against the previous three year trend data with the number of days 
reducing by 11 days and 10 days respectively and are both comparatively 
shorter timescales than statistical neighbours.  A20 remained the same at 255 
days which is similar to the statistical neighbour figure of 241 days.   

 
10. Leicestershire remains in line with Leicester City and Lincolnshire for placing 

children over five years old, having placed 18 between 2016-2019.  As 
Leicestershire is joining Leicester City and Lincolnshire as part of the 
Regionalisation of Adoption Agencies it is promising  that Leicestershire is 
performing equally as well. Leicestershire has also successfully placed a sibling 
group of four children, one of whom was over the age of five. 
 A specific Facebook campaign for a sibling group of three resulted in over 100 
enquiries and the progression to assessment for one family. 

 
11. Finding adoptive homes for children with complex health needs or disabilities 

remains a challenge. However, this remains a key focus and is routinely part of 
the Facebook campaigns seeking adopters for those harder to place children. 

72

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


3 
 

Leicestershire also uses activity days run by Coram BAAF1 and exchange 
events to ensure children’s profiles reach a wider audience. By using activity 
days children get the opportunity to meet adopters face to face and play, and 
vice versa.  Exchange events allow the sharing of profiles  with an adoption 
social worker being present; they are available to adopters who express an 
interest in a child and information can be shared. The children are not part of 
this process. 

 
12. A pilot scheme was rolled out in September 2019, where the Permanence 

Team took over responsibility of completing Child Permanence Reports with a 
specific aim of involving birth family and improving the quality of reports.  This 
was successful and is now a permanent service provision within the 
Permanence Team that covers all areas of the county. Monthly meetings are 
held with team managers of each fieldwork locality to ensure effective 
communication and tracking of cases.  

 
‘The Child’s Permanence Report is an essential tool that explains to the child 
their life story to date, enables a plan of adoption to be ratified and presented to 
court and supports adopters in understanding the child’s early years.’ 

 
13. Leicestershire has continued to be actively engaged in the regional home 

finding meetings where representatives from  Leicestershire,  Lincolnshire, 
Leicester City and three Voluntary Agencies meet monthly to identify 
prospective matches for hard to place children.  The meetings are now taking 
place quarterly with exchange and activities planned for the months in between. 
Leicestershire continues to chair and administer these meetings. There has 
been limited success with finding adoptive placements for  children within these 
meetings with matches being identified for five Leicestershire children. 

 
14. There has only been one adoption disruption during this period. Adoption 

disruptions are when the placement ends prior to the Adoption Order being 
granted. Adoption social workers remain involved with the family through to the 
granting of the order and the subsequent Celebration Hearing. In the case of 
adopters struggling with the emotional needs and as such, behaviour of their 
children, the Adoption Team is available to provide intense support based on 
therapeutic techniques. All the permanence family finding social workers have 
been trained in level 1 Theraplay; this  is a therapy for children and families for 
building and enhancing attachment, self-esteem, joyful engagement and trust in 
others and also have access to a fully qualified play therapist who is based 
within the service 

 
Key Areas for development 
 

Against all three Adoption Scorecard indicators, the one year trend data for 
2019 is highlighting an increase in the number of days in comparison to the 
previous year and therefore a decrease in the timeliness to achieve 
permanence. In addition, across all three indicators Leicestershire is performing 
lower than statistical neighbours.   

 

Adoption Score 2018 2019 Statistical 

                                                           
1
 CoramBAAF is an independent membership organisation for professionals, foster carers and adopters, and anyone else 

working with or looking after children in or from care, or adults who have been affected by adoption 

73



4 
 

Card Neighbours 

A10 228 days 425 days 344 days 

A2 133 days 167 days 157 days 

A20 187 days 316 days 235 days 

 
The variance for the one year trend data has been explored and this has 
highlighted that there were five children who presented as being significant 
outliers in terms of increased number of days. The service is satisfied that for 
the five children, any delay was due to the complexity of need and how this 
impacted on ensuring the right match, such as significant disabilities of the 
children and ensuring that the children received the right therapeutic 
intervention prior to placing to support the success of the placement. The 
service will continue to have robust monitoring and oversight of the progression 
of children whose permanence plan is adoption and recognise that matching for 
children with additional complex needs may require more time, consideration 
and intervention. 

 
Resource Implications 

 
15. None. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
16. None. 

 
Equalities and Human Rights Implications 
 

17. These are addressed throughout the report as the aim is to improve standards 
and outcomes for all children and young people whose best interest decision is 
permanence through adoption, including disabled children, older children and 
those from minority and harder to place groups.  The Adoption Service has a 
diverse compliment of staff with good representation across gender, age, 
sexual orientation as well as ethnicity.  

 
List of Appendices  
 
Appendix 1 – Annual Report of the Adoption Service 2019/20 
 
Officer(s) to Contact 
 
Jane Moore, Director of Children and Family Services,  
Tel:  0116 305 2649 
Email: Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk  
 
Sharon Cooke, Assistant Director, Targeted Early Help and Children’s Social Care 
Tel:  0116 305 479 
Email: Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk 
 
Michelle Robinson, Service Manager, Safeguarding 
Tel:  0116 305 7411 
Email: Michelle.Robinson@leics.gov.uk 

74

mailto:Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Michelle.Robinson@leics.gov.uk


5 
 

 

75



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

 
  

Leicestershire Adoption Service 

Annual Report  

2019-2020

 

 

 

77

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

 

Content 
 

 
 

Executive Summary 3 

Introduction  4 

Performance 6 

Post Adoption support  12 

Permanence Team 14 

Developments 15 

Recommendations 16 

Adoption Panel Annual report 17 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

78

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

 
 

Executive Summary 
 

The Annual Report for the Adoption Service sets out the performance for the service in 2019/20 and 
identifies our priorities for the forthcoming year 2020/21. 

 
Key messages within this report are: 

 
 

 

The Adoption Service has seen an increase in the number of adopter enquiries and attendance at 

open evenings during 2019/20. Between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2020, 347 adopter enquiries 

were received. 78 adopter households attended one of the 7 open evenings held during this period. Of 

these, as of 31st March 2020,  there were: 

 17 households in stage one of the assessment process  

 a further 14 households within stage two 

 21 households being approved as adopters and  

 a further 7 waiting for Agency Decision Maker ratification, following panel on 27/03/20 

This is a conversion rate of 75.6% of enquiries progressing to stage one of the assessment process 

which is a significant improvement to 2018/19 which had a conversion rate of 34% 

 

 

 

Leicestershire remains in line with Leicester City and Lincolnshire for placing children over 5 years old, 

having placed 18 between 2016-2019.  As Leicestershire is joining Leicester City and Lincolnshire as 

part of the Regionalisation of Adoption Agencies it is promising that that Leicestershire is performing 

equally as well. We have also successfully placed a sibling group of 4 children, one of whom was over 

5.  A specific Facebook campaign for a sibling group of 3 resulted in over 100 enquiries and the 

progression to assessment for one family. 

 

 

 

Finding adoption homes for children with complex health needs or disabilities remains a challenge. 

However, this remains on our agenda and is routinely part of our Facebook campaigns seeking 

adopters for those harder to place children. Leicestershire also uses Activity Days run by Coram Baaf 

Recruitment 

Family finding for older children 

Family finding for children with complex needs 

79

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

and Exchange Events to ensure children’s profiles reach a wider audience. By using Activity days our 

children get the opportunity to meet adopters face to face and play, and vice versa.  Exchange events 

allow the sharing of profiles  with an adoption social worker being present, they are available to 

adopters who express an interest in a child and information can be shared. The children are not part of 

this process. 

 

 

 

The Adoption Score card presents the performance data for authorities over a 3 year trend and 1 year 

trend. The 3 main key performance indicators are: 

 A10 – Average time between a child entering care and moving in with its adoptive family  

 A2 - The average time between a local authority receiving the court judgement and deciding on 

a match to an adoptive family 

 A20 - The Average time between a child entering care and the Local Authority receiving court 

authority to place a child 

Against all three key performance indicators the 3 year trend data remains stable and either better or 

similar to statistical neighbours. A10 and A2  improved against the previous 3 year trend data with the 

number of days reducing  by 11 days and 10 days respectively and are both comparatively shorter 

timescales than Statistical Neighbours.  A20 remained the same at 255 days which is similar to 

statistical neighbours of 241 days  ( Full Data - Pg 6 ‘Performance’). 

 

Against all three indicators, the 1 year trend data for 2019 is highlighting an increase in the number of 

days in comparison to the previous year and therefore a decrease in the timeliness to achieve 

permanence. In addition across all three indicators Leicestershire is performing lower than statistical 

neighbours.   

 

Adoption Score Card 2018 2019 Statistical Neighbours 

A10 228 days 425 days 344 days 

A2 133 days 167 days 157 days 

A20 187 days 316 days 235 days 

 

We have explored the variance for the 1 year trend data and have highlighted that there were 5 

children who presented as being significant outliers in terms of increased number of days. We  are 

satisfied that for the 5 children, any delay was due to the complexity of need and how this impacted on 

ensuring the right match; such as significant disabilities of the children and ensuring that the children 

Timeliness of children moving in with adoptive family  

80

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

received the right therapeutic intervention prior to placing to support the success of the placement. We 

will continue to have robust monitoring and oversight of the progression of children whose 

permanence plan is adoption and recognise that matching for children with additional complex needs 

may require more time, consideration and intervention. 

 

 

 

 

Leicestershire has continued to be actively engaged in the Regional Home finding meetings where 

representatives from Lincolnshire, Leicester City and 3 Voluntary Agencies meet monthly to identify 

prospective matches for hard to place children.  The meetings are now taking place quarterly with 

exchange and activities planned for the months in between. Leicestershire continues to chair and 

administer these meetings. There has been limited success with finding adoptive placements for our 

children within these meetings with matches being identified for 5 children 

 

 

1. Introduction 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Under the 2011 National Minimum Standards 25.6, all Adoption Agencies are required to provide one 

six month and one annual report to the Executive regarding the activity and work of the Adoption 

Regional Engagement  

OUR VISION Leicestershire is the best place for all children, young people 

and their families 

This means that we will describe the outcomes we want to achieve for 
children, young people and their families and identify measures that can 

tell us how well we are achieving against them. We will aim to be the best 
performing local authority in the country against these measures, and 

where we are not yet there we will set stretching targets for annual 
improvement. 

OUR MISSION 

Children and young people in Leicestershire are safe and living in families where they can 
achieve their potential and have their health, wellbeing and life chances improved within 

thriving communities. 
 

81

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

Agency and Adoption Panel.  To meet this standard the Adoption Service submits a monthly report to 

the Lead Member and Director and an annual report to the Children’s Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

 

1.1 Our Service   
 

Leicestershire County Council had operated a joint Fostering, Adoption and Placements Service since 

April 2015. In July 2019 we separated the two functions to have our own dedicated Fostering and 

Adoption Services. Leicestershire County Council is responsible for a Local Authority Adoption 

Agency.  It undertakes statutory and regulated responsibilities relating to adoption. The main roles of 

the Adoption and Permanence Service is to provide high quality adoptive placements, a range of 

adoption and special guardianship support and other permanency options, including profiling for long 

term placements for children who are looked after by Leicestershire County Council and are unable to 

live with their birth families.  

  

Adoption and Permanence Services are provided to: 

 Children who are to be adopted 

 Birth parents 

 Prospective and approved adopters 

 Children and adoptive parents who require adoption support services 

 Children and Special Guardians who require therapeutic support and advice, where the child 

lives permanently in Leicestershire 

 Adopted adults 

 

The Adoption Service is led by the  Head of Service for Fostering, Adoption, Children in Care and 

and Virtual School and managed through a Service Manager who has responsibility for the 3 

teams that make up the adoption service, Assessment and Support, Permanence and Post 

Support. 

Name Designation 

Jane Moore Director  

Children and Families Service 

Sharon Cooke 

 

 

 Assistant Director, Targeted Early Help and Childrens 
Social Care 

 
Nicci Collins Deputy Assistant Director, Transformation 

Kelda Claire Interim Head of Service 

Michelle Robinson Service Manager  

82

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

Helen Gronhaug Agency Decision Maker 

Gemma Barber Manager, Adoption & Permanence Team 

Emma Bulgin/Ellie Taylor Manager, Adoption & Permanence Team 

Caramjit Supra Manager, Adoption & Permanence Team 

Katie Bancroft Senior Practitioner, Post Adoption and SGO Support 

Lauren Nichols Senior Practitioner, Adoption 

Claire Pepper, Sophie Cotteril, 

Emma Kamgue, Julie Bilton-

Dowell, Judith Collins, Wendy 

Marsh, Angela Saduera, Bethany 

Fox 

 

 

Family Finding Social Workers 

Lisa Deakin Special Guardianship Support Social Worker 

Natasha Aaron, Harriet Person-
Cole, Rachel Knox-Barrett, Debbie 
Bevan 

 

 

Sue Bineham 

Eleni Christodoulou 

Adoption Social workers 

Sameerah Makda, Charlotte 
Waggle, Vacant Post 

Post Adoption Support Social Workers 

Sarah Greaves, Anne Barton Birth Records Counsellors 

Sheryl Perberdy Special Guardianship Support Worker 

Lianne Graham-Halford Post Adoption Support Worker 

Michelle Smith Life Story Worker 

Leesha Irwin  Art Therapist 

Lorraine Daniels Panel Advisor 

 

In September 2019 Leicestershire`s Children and Family Service was inspected by Ofsted. Whilst 

the Adoption Service was not subject to its own inspection the feedback for the service was 

exceptional. The overall judgement for services for children in care, was Good. 

 

This report should be read  alongside the Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and 

Adoption Strategy 2017-2021.  These are dynamic strategies, geared towards supporting the 

recruitment of a diverse and confident mix of adoptive families, ensure enduring relationships and 

high-quality adoption support services. They are integrally linked with other key strategic plans 

and strategies for the Council:  

  

 Children and Family Departmental Plan 2017 – 2021  

83

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

 Children & Families Partnership Plan    

 Continuous Improvement Plan – The Road to excellence 2017 - 2020 

 Adoption Service, Statement of Purpose  

 

 
1.2  National/local Political Implications  
  

Adoption has been a key part of the Government Agenda since 2012 and has seen significant 

change.   

  

There continues to be a drive to increase the number  of children who are able to achieve early 

permanency via fostering to adopt. This is an implicit feature of our assessment and training 

programme to ensure that all adopters are fully informed of the risks and benefits of offering such 

placements. We routinely ensure that adopters have the opportunity to hear from others who have 

offered this type of placement within their training.  

 

 

2. Performance 

 

2.1 Adoption Score Card – Key Performance Indicators 

The Adoption Score card presents the performance data for authorities over a 3 year trend and 1 year 

trend. The 3 main key performance indicators are: 

 A10 – Average time between a child entering care and moving in with its adoptive family  

 A2 - The average time between a local authority receiving the court judgement and deciding on 

a match to an adoptive family 

 A20 - The Average time between a child entering care and the Local Authority receiving court 

authority to place a child 

 

Leicestershire Adoption Agency’s average time between a child entering care and moving in with their 

adoptive family improved across the 3 year trend  performance data  with 2016-19  (334 days) being 

shorter than in 2015-18 (343 days), this highlights a reduction of 11 days. This remains positive in 

comparison to Statistical neighbours who have an average of 353 days. However, the average time in 

2019 compared to 2018 (1 year trend) identified an increase from 268 days to 425 days and is higher 

than statistical neighbours with an average of 344 days.  

 

84

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

The average time between a local authority receiving the court judgement and deciding on a match to 

an adoptive family was shorter in 2016-19 (143 days) in comparison to 2015-18 (153 days). This 

remains positive in comparison to Statistical neighbours who have an average of 154 days. However, 

in 2019 we have again seen an increase in the 1 year trend in comparison to 2018 from 133 days to 

167 days. Which is slightly higher than the statistical neighbours average of 157 days 

 

The Average time between a child entering care and the Local Authority receiving court authority to 

place a child has remained the same of 255 days over the three year trend comparison 2015-18/2016-

19. This remains similar our statistical neighbours average of 241 days. However, against the 1 year 

trend we have seen an increase from 2018 (187 days) to 2019 (316 days) and this is higher than 

statistical neighbours whose 1 year average for 2019 is 235. 

 

A separate in-depth analysis will take place and be presented to SMT by February 2021 into the 

reasons for the reduction of timeliness across all 3 key performance indicators. One hypothesis is that 

this is due to the length of time children have been waiting for the granting of a Placement Order (This 

is the legal ruling made by the courts which authorises a Local Authority to place a child with approved 

prospective adoptive parents). However, other internal processes will be explored and audited for us to 

understand and improve the timeliness for achieving permanence through adoption for our children. 

 

2.2 Adoption Panels 

 

Twenty-one adoption panels were held during this period, this is slightly less than the previous year 

when 23 adoption panels were held. The reduction is reflective of the smaller number of adopters 

coming through for approval and children being presented for matches. Leicestershire’s Adoption 

Panels are usually held fortnightly and are chaired by an Independent Chair and a panel of 

independent members who have significant adoption experience. The adoption panel is only able to 

make a recommendation of approval or not. Any recommendation must be considered by the Agency 

Decision Maker (ADM) before a Qualifying Determination can be made and the approval and/or match 

ratified. Leicestershire has a stand-alone Agency Decision Maker who is responsible for ensuring that 

they have considered all of the information presented to them before making a final decision. 

 

2.3 Adoption Plans 

In this period twenty-four children were presented to the Agency Decision Maker for an adoption plan. 

Of the twenty-four children considered by the Agency Decision Maker, 90% met the National Minimum 

Standard timescale of coming to panel within two months of adoption being agreed as the plan. Those 

85

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

out of the timescale are due to deferment for technical reasons acceptable under the regulations. 

The requirements of the Restrictions on the Preparation of Adoption Reports Regulations 2005 were 

fully met.  

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2005/0110723473/contents 

 

 

 

Chart 1 – Ages of children at point of approval for adoption 

 

 

 

 

This chart reflects the ages of the children coming through with a plan of adoption. Adoption is routinely 

considered during  monthly case discussions with locality team managers where under the Public Law Outline 

legal proceeding are being considered or have been started.  

 

2.4 Children Placed and Adopted 

 

 31 adoption orders were finalised for children in this period. Of these 11 were interagency 

placements.  

 21 adopters were approved in this period compared to 33 the previous year. A further 7 were 

waiting a Qualifying Determination from the Agency Decision Maker.  2 of these approvals were 

86

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2005/0110723473/contents


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

child specific.  Of these the majority were White/British with  2 Asian/Indian  and 1 white/Irish  

adopters. 

 25 children have been placed with their prospective adopters during this period.  

 21 children were placed with Leicestershire County Council approved adopters, and 4 via the 

inter-agency process. 

  3 sibling groups of 2 were placed   

 

2.5 Adoption Approvals  

 

During this period 21 adopter households were approved. 3 were presented to panel with a negative 

recommendation. These recommendations were upheld by panel and the Agency Decision Maker as it 

was assessed that the households were not suitable to meet the needs of children who have 

experienced adverse early experiences. 

 

The recruiting of adopters is reviewed quarterly to ensure that we remain clear about the needs of our 

children and that we recruit to these. The Service Manager for Adoption attends the Children’s 

Decision-Making panel which is chaired by the Head of Service for Fieldwork and is the forum where 

decisions for pre-proceedings and issuing of care proceedings is made. This provides oversight of 

cases that may progress to a permanence decision of adoption. The quarterly review also  cross 

references with the pre-proceedings tracker and the adoption tracker to understand our current cohort 

of children in terms of ages and complexity and consider these against our recruitment needs.  

 

Cases where delay or drift is identified are bought to the attention of the relevant Service Manager by 

the Adoption Service Manager to ensure that there are immediate plans put in place to understand the 

delay and to drive the permanence care plan forward. The Service Manager of the Adoption Team 

acts as Adoption Agency Advisor for children’s adoption plan decisions and therefore works closely 

with ADM. There are weekly meetings scheduled to consider proposed adoption plans. The  Adoption 

Service Manager and  ADM now plan to review the  adoption tracker together  monthly to track 

children the progress for whom an adoption plan is being proposed so this can feed into ADM 

escalation and challenge process if needed.  We continue to see a rise in sibling groups with a best 

interest decision of adoption.  

1 child with an ethnicity other than White British was placed with adopters during 2019/2020.  This was 

an interagency match where adopters who have been approved by an agency other than 

Leicestershire were identified as being the most appropriate adopters to meet the child’s needs. 

87

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

Leicestershire pays a fee for an Interagency placement. 4 children with ethnicity other than White 

British progressed through to the granting of an Adoption Order.   2 Asian adoptive households were 

approved in this financial year with a further 2 Asian households and also 1 Black African household 

having entered into the assessment process. 

 

The requirements of the Restrictions on the Preparation of Adoption Reports Regulations 2005 were 

fully met for all assessments.  The Regulations specify the requirements regarding the relevant 

experience of workers completing the reports and those who supervise them. There was one occasion 

when ADM escalated a concern that the requisite experience for writing adoption reports had not been 

met. This was resolved through escalation to Head of Service. They also set out specific factors an 

agency must consider when making a report assessing the suitability of a person to adopt a child and 

are used to help achieve clarity, consistency and transparency in the adoption service. 

 

2.5 Quality of Reports 

 

A Pilot Scheme was rolled out in September 2019, where the Permanence Team took over 

responsibility of completing Child Permanence Reports with a specific aim of involving birth family and 

improving the quality of reports.  This was successful and is now a permanent service provision within 

the Permanence Team that covers all areas of the county. Monthly meetings are held with team 

managers of each fieldwork locality to ensure effective communication and tracking of cases.  

 

The Child’s Permanence Report is an essential tool that explains to the child their life story to date, 

enables a plan of adoption to be ratified and presented to court and supports adopters in 

understanding the child’s early years. 

 

Adoption plans were agreed for 24 children during this period. Since the Permanence Team have 

taken over the completion of the Child Permanence Reports there has been a reduction of those for 

whom further information was required before a decision could be made, and as such a reduction in 

delay in decision making. The Agency Decision Maker and Adoption Panel members feel that the 

quality of reports has improved, and the team often receives complimentary remarks about the quality 

from other agencies and adopters.  

 

2.6 Children Waiting for Adoption  

 

88

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

At the 31st March 2020 there were 53 children with a best interest decision of adoption although not all 

had Placement Orders granted  by the court. 

 

Family finding is being actively pursued with placements being sought via the Regionalisation of 

Adoption Agencies (known as the RAA), and an on-line private group where adopters can see profiles 

of children in need of adoptive homes known as  Link Maker. At the point of an ADM decision being 

given to agree a care plan of adoption, children are profiled by members of the Permanence Team and 

are then, if appropriate, an anonymous profile is placed on Link Maker. The full profile is released at 

the point that a Placement Order is granted by the court. Leicestershire always seek to place with their 

own adopters initially - if this is not successful a search within the RAA is progressed, with a national 

search only being completed if no suitable adopters are identified after this point. Children who have 

been waiting for 8 weeks post the granting of an Adoption Order are bought to the attention of the 

Service Manager to provide more robust oversight and understanding of the delay to ensure plans are 

put in place to utilise all options available to achieve a successful adoption match.  Leicestershire is 

clear that matches between children and adopters should be based on the adopters’ ability to meet the 

needs of the child and is a child centred and child led process. We have been successful in matching 

and have not needed to regularly participate in national exchange days or adoption activity days, 

having only 2 sets of siblings attend throughout 2019-20. 

 
 

On 31st March 2020 we had 17 adopter applicants in stage one and a further 14 in stage two of the 

assessment process. At this point, the service had 55 Pack A requests and had a target of approving 

between 30 and 40 adoptive households. It should be recognised that not all Pack A requests result in 

a care plan of Adoption. Pack A requests are made at the commencement of Public Law Outline and 

are designed to start the Adoption process but with a realisation that for many children adoption is 

unlikely to become the final care plan. 

  

No children were placed under Foster for Adoption protocols during this period.  This continues to be 

tracked through attendance at CDM and is considered upon the referral being received. Adopters 

continue to receive a session on Foster for Adoption through their training. Foster for Adoption is part 

of Leicestershire’s early permanence planning and is designed to place children as early as possible 

with adoptive parents should a rehabilitation home be unlikely. It is most often used in cases of repeat 

pregnancies where older siblings have recently been part of Public Law Outline and have themselves 

been placed for adoption. 

 

89

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

2.7 Adoption Disruptions  

 

Adoption disruptions are when the placement ends prior to the Adoption Order being granted. 

Adoption social workers remain involved with the family through to the granting of the Order and the 

subsequent Celebration Hearing. In the case of adopters struggling with the emotional needs and as 

such, behaviour of their children the Adoption Team is available to provide intense support based on 

therapeutic techniques. All the permanence family finding social workers have been trained in level 1 

Theraplay (Theraplay is a therapy for children and families for building and enhancing attachment, 

self-esteem , joyful engagement and trust in others)  and also have access to a fully qualified play 

therapist who is based within the service 

. 

There has been 1 adoption disruption during this period, this was of an older child who struggled to 

invest into a new family. The adopters had been approved by another adoption agency and had known 

the child prior to the matching process.  Leicestershire has now strengthened its processes in relation 

to disruptions with an Independent Reviewing Officer being appointed as an independent chair to 

ensure fairness and transparency.  Learning from disruptions is passed onto the relevant teams. 

 

 

3. Post Adoption Support  

 

3.1 Support Offer 

Pre and post adoption support is provided in a number of ways within Leicestershire.  The adoption 

social worker offers support up to three years post adoption order, especially in cases where adoption 

90

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

breakdown or disruption is a threat. This is set out in legislation (Adoption and Children Act 

2002/Adoption Support Services Regulations 2005) as all placing authorities are required to provide 

support to a child they have placed for adoption for the first three years. We  also have a dedicated 

support worker who makes first contact with the adopter at the point of 6 weeks post placement. This 

is the  point when research suggests that post placement depression can become evident.  

 

The support worker is Theraplay (level 1) trained, if necessary, she can remain involved to support 

managing behaviour and completing direct work with children. She contacts every adopter every 6 

months post Adoption Order by telephone to ensure that the placement continues to progress and the 

support plan  remains up to date and relevant. There is also a full-time post support social worker who 

works with families therapeutically using Theraplay and Dyadic Developmental Psychotherapy (DDP) 

techniques that support attachment and positive parenting. The social worker completes an 

Assessment of Need for those families requiring more specialist therapy and will submit applications to 

the Adoption Support Fund for additional funding. DDP is a therapy and parenting approach that 

supports attachment building and overcoming developmental trauma through the use of Playfulness, 

Acceptance, Curiosity and Empathy, known as the PACE approach. 

 

The team also has an art therapist who works individually with adopted children. She also runs a 

weekly group for adopted children in order to promote their sense of identity and explore common 

themes. Quarterly newsletters are sent to all adopters which contain practical support, research 

articles and communication regarding the support available including  invitations to two social 

gatherings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There is so much useful 

info and facts in that 

newsletter. Very much 

appreciated. It really 

helps me. 

 

‘Covering the section regarding 

Black life’s matter is really 

important for our children in 

understanding and the importance  

to give children the confidence to 

speak out if there is an injustice .’ 

 

91

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

Despite only being required by legislation to provide support for the first three years post granting of an 

Adoption Order,  Leicestershire now offers lifelong support so after the three-year period, adopters can 

contact the team directly if they require specific adoption support. For those cases where there is a 

chance of a child being placed back into care or there are child protection concerns it remains that 

support is provided via First Response Children’s Duty and fieldwork locality teamsThe post support 

team will continue to work as part of a team around the family, offering support to the child and parents 

relating to the therapeutic needs of the adopted child.  

 

Birth Parents are routinely offered support prior to the adoption of their children. This support is offered 

through a leaflet provided at the point of ADM ratifying a care plan of adoption. The Permanence Team 

has a protocol of any such request for support to birth parents who are facing the knowledge that the 

Local Authority is not supporting a return of their child to their care. being presented to Permanence 

Panel where an application for an independent person to undertake this service will be considered.  

The Permanence Team has also offered the First Family Group where parents of adopted children can 

meet up in Leicester City to gain support. This group is still in its infancy with only low numbers 

attending. This will be promoted throughout the next financial year and will take into consideration 

COVD19 safety requirements.  

 

The Post Adoption Support Team liaises with the Virtual School and training is offered to schools 

particularly around attachment issues for adopted children and how to successfully manage these in 

the school setting. The training is highly valued by schools who report a change in staff behaviour and 

interaction with children which in turn impacts on the children’s ability to engage in education. 

 

The demand for Post Adoption Support continues to grow in all areas. Leicestershire has a 

Therapeutic Support Budget that can be accessed to support children emotionally  prior to adoption. 

Each child can have an initial payment of up to £450 with a further £450 being available if required. 

The Service Manager for Children in Care has a role in monitoring applications and the progress of 

any therapy commissioned. 

 

3.2 Adoption Support Fund 

To 31st March 2020, Leicestershire has drawn down £499,478,28  from the Adoption Support Fund 

(ASF) to pay for direct interventions with adoptees and their families in Leicestershire. This is an 

increase in the amount that was applied for in the previous financial year (£338,302,72) and 

represents support to 164 adoptive families. It should be noted that the art therapist post has been 

funded through this ASF funding at no cost to the Local Authority and Leicestershire has successfully 

92

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

trained workers therapeutically to ensure a better provision of services. Any money accumulated from 

the ASF also ensures that workers receive clinical supervision alongside regular supervision to ensure 

that their therapeutic practice is ethical and appropriate.  Some of the most complex cases may be co-

worked by the Locality Team with support from the Post Adoption Support Worker.  In such cases an 

assessment will be conducted and an application may be made for appropriate therapeutic services 

through the Adoption Support Fund.   

 

 

 

3.3 Birth Records Counselling 

Birth Records Counselling is a service provided  to adults who have been adopted and wish to access 

their records and understand their life story prior to being adopted. A social worker reads the records 

and provides a detailed account to the adoptee alongside therapeutic emotional support that enables 

the adult to process their journey. This service  continues to be highly successful and adoptees 

regularly provide positive feedback.’ 

 

 

‘ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Intermediary services where adopted children are supported to find and meet their birth parents are 

not carried out in house in Leicestershire.  Some initial advice may be given but as with other Local 

Authorities we signpost adoptees who request this service to third sector agencies.   

 

4. Permanence Team 

 

4.1  The role of the team is to undertake all family finding for children who need permanence via the 

adoption route. They also family find for adopters post approval and support adopters through the 

placing and supporting children through to the final order which is called an Adoption Order.  

I wanted to share this 

photo of me and my half-

sister, we have had an 

amazing reunion since my 

records were shared’ 

 

 I can say that just receiving 

the summary has meant so 

much to him, he is really 

grateful for your work. 

93

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

 

This work also includes family finding for long-term fostered children. A dedicated social worker has 

been appointed to this post and has received positive comments about her commitment and success. 

 

‘I wanted to pass on my thanks for all the work B has done on this case- above and beyond her 
responsibilities… B has chased people around which has been very much appreciated. 
 

Sounds like J and D have had really good transitions to their new carers and B has played a huge role 

in this so my huge thanks’ 
 

 

4.2  In addition to day-to-day operations, the team is very committed to ongoing developmental 

projects such as the introduction of Life Appreciation Days, processes for the permanence planning of 

children in long-term foster care and, further embedding of the Signs of Safety methodology in our 

practice. The team is becoming more involved in the completion of sibling together or apart 

assessments and a number of team members have undertaken Theraplay and DDP training to ensure 

that they can appropriately support adopters to understand the needs of our children and parent them 

therapeutically. 

 

5. Statement by the Agency Decision Maker, Helen Gronhaug 

The independent position of the Agency Decision Maker (ADM) provides an over view of children’s 

care planning and outcomes through consideration of adoption and fostering panel recommendations; 

children’s adoption plans as well as foster carer reviews. This allows for the identification of practice 

and policy themes.  This oversight of children’s permanence planning is further enhanced through 

ADM’s Permanence Panel membership. The direct report to the Assistant Director allows for  

improvement themes to readily feed into the Department’s continuous improvement activity. 

5.1 Children’s Adoption plans 

One of the primary objectives of the ADM role Action Plan is to strengthen quality assurance at the 

right place at the right time and by the right role.  With more robust quality assurance  by Permanence 

team  managers and improvements in the quality of Child Permanence Reports, the  reliance on ADM  

providing detailed quality assurance of has reduced. A feedback meeting is planned with Permanence 

Team Managers; Service  Manager and ADM is to promote consistency  amongst the teams, minimise 

unnecessary duplication  and importantly further develop the writing style of ‘writing to the child.’ 

This reporting period saw the roll out the CPRs being routinely  being prepared by the Adoption  

Service. This leaves the locality social work teams completing  assessment and care planning 

94

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

processes and the permanence social worker responsible for providing a coherent narrative of this 

work.  With timetabling in narrow timeframes, the coordination of care planning and CPR submission 

to ADM is tight. Regular communication is needed between the teams to ensure  all assessments are 

concluded before ADM considers the proposed adoption plan. The fact that the CPR forms the basis 

for a Placement Order application to court means it needs to be ready to evidence the rationale for an 

adoption plan shortly after ADM consideration. This can create challenges in meeting court timescales 

if ADM requests further clarification/ amendments. 

While there have been some ambitious adoption plans presented, further work is needed to explore 

consistency across localities in consideration of adoption plans for children who might be considered 

harder to place, specifically older children or children with disabilities. Care planning of sibling groups 

continues to be a complex area for practitioners. It remains essential  that  issues of “Together or 

Apart” are considered at the outset of a child’s journey. This should ensure that information gathering 

is purposeful from the start of care planning and provides a robust evidence base for decision making.  

With the development of adoption support service and skills within the Adoption Service, there is a 

developing understanding of the impact of placement decisions for siblings. While  locality social work 

teams remain responsible for  care planning decisions, permanence social workers are completing 

sibling assessments with knowledge of the longer  term challenges facing adopted children and their 

adoptive families.  This leaves potential for professional difference between teams as to whether 

siblings should remain together or whether  children’s needs (taking account of age and family 

relationships)  are best served by separate  adoption plans or permanence through fostering.  The 

Permanence Team Managers are gaining a valuable overview of which children are being considered 

for a plan of adoption. The work of Permanence Panel in considering permanence plans of long term 

foster care for children will offer further insight. There are a small number of children who are 

presenting for an adoption plan as a standalone Placement Order application.  There  is potential for 

delay in progressing permanence for these children given they will already have been through a 

previous set of care proceedings. The oversight of IROs and the Permanence Team Managers  needs 

to robustly address this. As this area of practice develops, it is important  this is shared with key 

partners in the judiciary with implications for contact and placement proposals in court proceedings.  

There continue to be  occasions when ADM has been approached to review the decision of an 

adoption plan on the basis of further assessments agreed through court. This reflects the complex 

picture within court proceedings. 

5.2 Adopter approvals. 

95

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

During this year,  assessment of prospective  adopters have largely  been commissioned  externally. 

There have been challenges in terms of  the consistency  and quality of these assessments and many 

have been subject to repeated quality assurance. This has led to Panel deferring a number of 

recommendations . There have been more occasions when ADM has  remained concerned about  the 

robustness of the assessments  even after Panel’s scrutiny and has therefore required further work 

before making a determination.  The outstanding work commonly related to applicants’ understanding 

of adoptive parenting, child care experience, consideration to children already established within the 

family and questions around applicants’ resilience and vulnerability of the applicants and their support 

network.  There is scope to tighten up the timescales for the completion of such work whilst 

recognising these requests are often due to the presence of complicating factors.  Other assessments 

which present complexities are where foster carers are being assessed for a child already placed with 

them.   

ADM has identified there is a need for all to take responsibility at each and every stage of the 

assessment and planning process rather than defer down the line which potentially leads to an over 

reliance on ADM. The quarterly reflective meetings  with Panel Advisor, Panel Chair, Vice Chairs, 

ADM and Service Manager offer an opportunity to understand any differences between Panel and 

ADM deliberations to drive practice development and appropriate scrutiny. ADM has advocated for pre 

panel and  panel’s quality assurance to be more robustly carried out. 

The Adoption Medical Advisor  provides a comprehensive service to Panel and ADM and has greatly 

assisted ADM in considering applications with complex health issues. There is a piece of work  

identified to ensure potential complexities are addressed as soon as possible within the assessment 

process. A feedback session which includes ADM and Panel Advisor was planned for 2020-1 period to 

the external agency completing assessments and to ensure issues identified within Stage 1 checks are 

adequately  addressed by the external assessors during Stage 2 of the process.  

5.3 Adoption Matches 

While there have been occasions when further work has been required by ADM before approving a 

proposed match, improvements continue to be seen with support plans being more individualised to 

the child. Practice is informed by an acknowledgement of the impact of the children’s health 

development and lived experience (acknowledging the impact of neglect and trauma) on short and 

long term needs and thus what capacity is implied for the adopters.  This is further enhanced by the 

growing knowledge  and skills within the  post adoption service and this being put to good effect at an 

early stage.  It remains an area for improvement to ensure all that is known about both the child and 

adopters’ needs is reflected in a support plan. In particular, the needs of children who are already part 

96

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

of the adoptive family (by birth or through adoption) need to be consistently reflected in support plans. 

Where ADM has made requirements for additions to the Adoption Support Plan, these are passed to 

the child’s Independent Reviewing Officer for their oversight and monitoring. 

It has been recognised that Adoption Panel has not had access to a legal advisor for some time. 

However to date no regular service is available. 

5.4 Disruptions 

Learning from disruptions is vital to inform Panel and ADM practice and future decision making. While  

the process for learning has been established, it is important  that this extends to Panel and ADM to 

ensure  they are included in lessons learnt. 

 

 

6. Developments 

 

6.1  Regionalisation of Adoption Agencies (RAA) 

Leicestershire, Leicester City, Lincolnshire (also providing services to Rutland ) and North Lincolnshire 

have agreed a partnership approach to the DfE’s requirement that all agencies form a RAA. Over 

many months, there has been collaborative working and this has led to a Go-Live date being set for 

14th October 2020. Leicestershire will be part of the newly formed RAA which will be known as Family 

Adoption Links. Family Adoption Links is currently headed by Bryan Glover in an interim capacity until 

March 2021. Monthly meetings are held with managers across each agency to ensure consistent 

development and practice. 

  

6.2  Therapeutic Offer 

The development of the Permanence Team continues to be positive - we have a dedicated life story 

worker who supports adopters with how to tell a child about their life experience. This has been 

received positively by adopters. We also have a dedicated art therapist and we have trained several 

workers to deliver DDP and Theraplay techniques to our families. Consideration will be given in the 

following 12 months to improving our SGO support offer and mirroring the life-long support that 

Adopters now receive. Leicestershire continues to work closely with Lincolnshire, North Lincolnshire 

and Leicester City as part of the Regionalisation of Adoption Agencies arrangements and will 

strengthen further after the go live date in October 2020, looking at specific areas like shared panels 

and a shared therapeutic offer. 

 

97

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

6.3  Rutland Arrangements 

 

As of March 2019, the Service Level Agreement ended with Rutland. 

 

7. Recommendations for 2020/2021 

 2020 will see the launch of the RAA  and there will be a period of time that is needed to ensure 

that services are aligned with Leicester City, Lincolnshire and North Lincolnshire. This is an 

exciting time  where each authority can learn from the other and strive to provide an excellent  

and consistent service to adopters and children.  

 Although Leicestershire continues to perform well against Department of Education score cards 

for the 3 year trend data. The decreasing timeliness identified for 1 year trend data 2019 

requires  an in-depth analysis to be completed to understand the increase in the time that 

children are waiting before being placed in their adoptive homes. This will be presented to SMT 

by the end of February 2021. 

 The service will explore the possibility of mirroring our Post Adoption support offer to those 

family members and children subject to a Special Guardianship Order 

 We will also focus on ensuring that adopters’ journey is timely and efficient to ensure that we 

have the right adopters for our children. This work will be completed by March 2021 

 Further consideration needs to be given to whether Leicestershire dually approves adopters as 

part of the Family Adoption Links arrangement to keep in line with our partners 

 

Leicestershire Adoption Agency continues to strive to deliver excellent services to our children, 

we have demonstrated this by the improvement of the quality of our Child Permanence Reports, 

increased communication between ourselves and locality teams, working effectively with other 

agencies and being ambitious in our permanency planning. The Permanence Team have 

embedded the Signs of Safety approach and regularly use family network meetings and include 

words and pictures in Child Permanence Reports. We have a team of highly trained social 

workers and other professionals that deliver therapeutic support to children and adults to ensure 

stability and consistency and Leicestershire is committed to continued training of our workers to 

provide a high-quality service that supports stability for children. 

 

Michelle Robinson 

Service Manager –  Permanency  

November 2020. 

98

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adoption Panel 

 

Chair’s Annual Report of the Leicestershire County Council Adoption Panel 

1st April 2019 - 31st of March 2020 

1. Introduction 

 

This report summarises the work of the panel over a 12-month period covering 1st April 2019 to 

31st March 2020. It should be read in conjunction with the statement of purpose produced by the 

agency. 

 

2. Composition of the Panel  

The Agency is required to maintain a Central list of persons who are suitable due to their variety 

of skills, background and knowledge, and who can be flexible in their availability. During this 

year there have been 0 new panel members appointed. In a continued bid to increase 

representation of experienced individuals, medical background and diversity in terms of gender 

and ethnicity, advertising has commenced to enable further recruitment of new Panel Members 

to satisfy these needs and increase the Central List. 

99

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

There has also been a continued recruiting of more LCC Social Work Representatives, to 

spread the workload of panel attendance across more Social Workers. An updated Central List 

is below. 

 

Name of Panel 
Member  

Panel Role Date Became a 
Panel Member 

Mike Roughan Independent Chair 24 June 2014 

Mohamed Patel Independent Vice-Chair 1 October 2011 

Fiona Booth Independent Member 17 August 2016 

Jacinta Barnard Independent Member 19 July 2017 

Jayne Kelly Independent Member 9 July 2015 

Ashley Scott Independent Member (Social Worker) 8 November 2015 

Liz Blakeley Independent Member 1 December 2014 

Deanna Spencer Independent Member 18 June 2014 

Sue Oldman Independent Member 28 May 2015 

Katie Bancroft LCC Social Worker Representative 26 March 2018 

Shontall Bennett LCC Social Worker Representative 26 March 2018 

Dr Sian Davies Medical Advisor 11 October 2011 

   

 
 

3. Panel Functions 
 

The core function of panel has remained the same, namely, to make recommendations to the 

Agency Decision Maker (ADM) on the following: 

- The suitability of Prospective Applicants to Adopt. 

- The suitability of Approved Applicants to be matched with a Child/Children to reflect their 

Terms of Approval. 

- To consider some 1st annual foster carer reviews, to relieve the workload of the Fostering 

Panel 

- In addition, the Panel is available to provide advice and feedback to the agency of any 

cases that they wish panel to explore prior to any formal approval process.  

Workload: 

- The Adoption Panel met on 21 occasions with 2 panels being cancelled due to low workload 

hearing a total of 74 cases. 

- New Prospective Adoptive Persons Recommendations to ADM 31. 

- Deferred Prospective Adoptive Persons Recommendations 4.  

100

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

- Non-Approvals of Prospective Adoptive Persons by panel 3. 

- Matches Recommended to ADM 18.  

- Deferred Matches Recommendations 2 

- Recommendations to ADM deferred for further work 2. 

- Deregistration’s 0. 

- Placement Disruptions 1.  

- Relinquished Children Recommendation to ADM 2 

- Relinquished Children Deferred- 1. 

 

4. Business Support 

 

The role of the Panel Administrator is to: 

- produce an annual schedule of panels, 

- ensure that panel members are invited to panel ensuring quoracy, 

- maintain the panel booking system and to liaise with the Panel chair and panel adviser in 

constructing the panel agenda. 

- receive and distribute reports to panel, 

- general liaison with the Panel chair and panel adviser, 

- produce a record of the panel discussion by way of minutes and ensure that those are 

amended and circulated to all relevant parties, 

- liaise with the ADM in relation to the decision (decision letter). 

There has continued to be consistency in the Panel Administrator role, which is much 

appreciated by all panel members. 

Action: Administrators have attended minute-taker/administrator training- 2019 

 

5. Quality Assurance – function and feedback 

 

The panel provides feedback for each case presented to it, this is collated by the Panel Adviser, 

verbally as each case is heard. A new form has also been devised which panel members 

complete at the time of reading the reports.  

 

6. Prospective Adoptive Carers Reports and Child Permanence Report (CPR) 

 

Generally, panel comment favourably on the quality of the above reports. However, there have 

still been some occasions, primarily when new staff and external agency independent assessors 

101

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

have been used, where it has been felt that the reports lacked detailed analysis. Particularly as it 

relates to vulnerabilities of applicants and what support can be offered. We have strengthened 

the team manager quality assurance tool to support and guide social workers in reflective 

thinking and analysis. There is also regular liaison with the agency commissioned to continue to 

improve the quality of reports. 

 
There has been a noticeable improvement to the quality of Prospective Adopter Reports, where 

a more rigid Quality Assurance Process has been employed. This is due to the noticeably good 

working relationship between the Panel Advisor and the Team Managers. In turn the latter have 

a good relationship with the panel and have been open to the feedback about their team’s work. 

They and their staff have also used the panel to present cases where they have sought panel 

advice.  

 

7. Agency Decision Maker Feedback 

ADM has continued quarterly reflective discussions with Panel Advisor, Panel Chair, Vice Chair 

and Service Manager. These meetings offer an opportunity to understand any differences 

between Panel and ADM deliberations and drive practice development and appropriate scrutiny. 

The meetings provide a forum to explore factors which are fundamental to suitability to adopt or 

whether they relate to matching considerations. Panel’s quality assurance function can therefore 

be more robustly carried out. It was agreed that minutes from previous panel should be included 

in the paperwork for the upcoming panel and used to inform members of the outcome of ADM 

and any possible learning. This has now been put in place. 

 

8. Feedback from Attendees 

 

All attendees are given feedback forms after attending panel. This feedback is then typed by the 

panel administrator and then shared with panel at each panel under any other business. Whilst it 

is noted that these forms are often completed, to date there has been no collation of these forms 

for detailed analysis of any learning. 

Action: Panel adviser and Panel Administrator to collate the data received from these feedback 

forms in order to establish whether there are any patterns which would suggest the need for 

panel to change its practice.   

During the Covid19 lockdown this has not been completed and sending feedback forms 

electronically will commence going forward. 

 

102

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


 
 
Care Placement Strategy and Permanence and Adoption Strategy  https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html 

 
 

9. Panel member development 

 

Panel Appraisals, in terms of Timing and Due date, are managed by our Panel Advisor with 

assistance from Business Support. Where possible Appraisals are carried out, by Panel Chair 

and Panel Advisor, either before or after Panel, which minimises inconvenience to Panel 

Members and ensures that we keep up to date. Exceptions are arranged at mutually convenient 

timings. Panel Annual Training took place in November 2019. Members were updated with 

respect to the RAA progress and areas of learning identified by Panel Members and Panel 

Advisor, informed the day’s learning Agenda. 

 

10. Summary and Conclusions 

 

The Agency and Panel have continued to operate in a context of considerable government change in 

relation to childcare services but have embraced this with a commitment to continuous improvement. 

 

There are several issues that are being worked on and will further improve services to children, 

adopters and carers 

- improve Quality Assurance of cases for presentation to Panel 

- Renewed focus on the experience of attendees coming to panel ensuring that it is a positive 

experience. 

- Minutes of previous panel to be included and presented at the following panel. 

- Panel member reviews to be undertaken yearly and on-time. 

 

During March 2020 the onset of Covid19 and the need to be innovative in continuing with Adoption 

Panels , have presented a number of challenges for all of us. The entire Team of Managers, Social 

Workers, Business Support , Panel Advisor and all Panel Members have worked very effectively to 

develop a Virtual Panel Process that has facilitated an uninterrupted Adoption Panel function to 

continue. This Virtual Process is regularly reviewed and improved and is well received by all 

concerned.   

 
This Report has been produced by the Independent Chair of LCC Adoption Panel, with assistance 
from the Independent Vice Chair and Panel Advisor. 

 
Mike Roughan MBE 
 

103

https://www.lsr-online.org/reports,815571.html


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 2020.
	8 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 - 2024/25.
	CFS MTFS 2021 19th Jan 21 Apps

	9 Update on the Defining Children and Family Services for the Future Programme.
	10 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Update.
	11 Covid-19 Recovery Update.
	12 Annual Report of the Adoption Service 2019-20.
	Adoption  Annual Report 2019-20 V.7


